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Chairman’s Statement
FEHmE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019. This is also the
Company’s first annual report after it transferred from GEM to the
Main Board in mid-December last year.

The macro environment at home and abroad in 2019 was full of
challenges. The Sino-US trade frictions persisted until the phase one
trade agreement between the two countries was reached in mid-
January 2020. In Europe, slackening trading and manufacturing
activities had dragged down the growth of the overall economy.
Meanwhile, China’s economy continued to maintain slow growth. In
2019, despite increasing downward pressure on China’s economy, it
remained stable, with a 6.1% year-on-year GDP growth.

According to a report released by the Center for Forecasting Science
of the Chinese Academy of Sciences, although the logistics industry
saw weaker growth in 2019 when compared with that in 2018, it
experienced a relatively stable overall development, while the total
value of goods carried by the logistics sector continued to increase
steadily”.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the revenue of the Group's in-plant
logistics services increased moderately year on year. However,
affected by the domestic economic slowdown, the Group’s
transportation services decreased and revenue from this segment
also retreated marginally. In addition, the revenue of the
warehousing service segment declined year on year due to the
expiration of a warehouse lease during the year under review. As a
result of the aforesaid, the Group’s overall revenue slightly decreased
by 0.7% to RMB209.8 million during the year under review.

T http://m.ce.cn/bwzg/202001/08/t20200108_34073726.shtml
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Chalrmal’]'S Statement (continuea

The slow growth in world trade and the challenge of trade barriers
faced by the domestic manufacturing industry had, to certain extent,
exerted pressure on the Company's third-party logistics business. As
one of the few logistics service providers that could provide
complete in-plant logistics services for customers, the Group
continued to leverage its unique competitive advantages during the
year under review. By customizing the full logistics service plan for
customers, the Group achieved stable development in its in-plant
logistics business.

During the year under review, we further consolidated our business
in North China and East China markets; in Tianjin and Jiangsu
Province, we expanded our business to the surrounding areas of our
operating bases.

The Group's transportation business remained stable. The Group not
only expanded its vehicle fleet, but also continued to upgrade its
fleet with new technology and equipment. The global positioning
system (GPS) and fuel consumption management device installed in
the Group's vehicles enabled us to maximize resource efficiency and
control costs. In addition to our own trucks, we also rented third-
party vehicles to carry out our transportation business. This not only
effectively reduced fixed costs, but also gave us greater flexibility in
the face of relatively volatile markets.

As at the end of the year under review, the Group managed a total of
five warehouses with a total area of 50,000 square metres. We had
basically completed the upgrading of one of our warehouses with
automated storage facilities and systems, which were then put into
trial run. Automation facilities and systems could help improve
efficiency in handling and packaging, loading and unloading inventory
in warehouses.
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea)

During the year, the Group continued to enhance sales and
marketing effort. Our specialized marketing team endeavoured to
broaden the customer base by actively participating in industry
exhibitions and conferences, customers’ tendering, etc. At the same
time, we also visited customers’ manufacturing plants located in
mainland China and overseas to reach out to potential customers.
During the year under review, the Group successfully obtained
orders from certain new customers engaged in food industry. Our
overseas offices were also committed to developing logistics
customers in the Middle East and along the Belt and Road.

At the end of 2018, the Group had set up a company in Egypt for
expansion of overseas logistics business. The Company currently
offers local logistics management services and international freight
forwarding agency services in Egypt, with the aim to fully leverage
the competitive edge of the company in Egypt to provide freight
forwarding agency services to more Chinese enterprises in the
region. During the year under review, overseas transportation
business in Egypt began to generate revenue to the Group.

The Company's shares (stock code: 1529) have been traded on the
Main Board since 19 December 2019. The transfer of listing from
GEM to the Main Board will help enhance the profile of the Group
and the attractiveness of the Company’s shares to institutional and
retail investors, as well as enable the Group to have greater flexibility
to raise funds from the capital market.

During the year under review, the Group's financial position
remained sound with a net cash inflow of RMB7.2 million and no
bank borrowings or other borrowings. The healthy and solid financial
position ensured the Group stable funding to upgrade facilities,
expand business and seize new business opportunities.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Chalrmal’]'S Statement (continuea

PROSPECTS

In 2020, the global economy remains complex and volatile, and in
there lurks unprecedented uncertainty. China and the United States
signed the phase one trade agreement in mid-January 2020, but it
remains to be implemented. On the other hand, the United States
and China, the two largest economies in the world, still have huge
disagreements over various issues, from commerce, intellectual
property to technology and others, which pose considerable
variables in the flow of goods traded between the two countries. For
the aforesaid reasons, more and more enterprises have been
relocating their production facilities to other regions of Asia. The
overall global economic outlook is not optimistic. According to the
World Economic Situation and Prospects 2020 published by the
United Nations, should all types of risks be got under control, the
world economy may slightly improve in 2020, but the per capita
income of one fifth of countries will still stagnate or decline?. In
addition, since the emergence of the Coronavirus Disease-2019
("COVID-19") in Wuhan, China in December 2019, the outbreak has
continued to spread in January and February 2020, resulting in the
extension of the Spring Festival holiday in mainland China. The
impact of the outbreak on China’s economy has yet to be estimated.

According to the report on the forecast of the logistics industry
development released by the Center for Forecasting Science of the
Chinese Academy of Sciences, the overall domestic economic
growth will slow down in 2020, and external demand will continue to
weaken. The average Logistics Prosperity Index (LPI) for 2020 is
expected to reach 52.0%, which is lower than that of 2019. In 2020,
the size of the logistics market will expand slightly, and the total
value of goods carried by the logistics sector is expected to amount
to RMB313.3 trillion®.

In the Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area of China, Guangzhou is selected for
development into one of the key national logistics hubs.
Headqguartered in Guangzhou, the Company will actively leverage its
geographical advantages, as well as business relationships with its
existing customers in the Greater Bay Area, to further explore
business opportunities in the region.

2 https://news.un.org/zh/story/2020/01/1049292
3 http://m.ce.cn/bwzg/202001/08/t20200108_34073726.shtml
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea)

The Group's in-plant logistics business will remain our key business
development direction. As our clients of this service encompass
many well-known international enterprises, we have established
reputation and credibility in this industry. The comprehensive
operation system and professionals whom we nurtured for our in-
plant logistics services will help us effectively replicate our
experiences to other customers and different industries.

Since the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the mainland China’s
economy is still hard to predict, and the domestic economic
downturn may have ripple effect on commercial activities and
logistics property rentals, we are currently holding discussions with
the landlords about the possibility of rental adjustment for the
warehouses. Meanwhile, with the expected commencement of
operation of a warehouse of the Group with automated storage
facilities in 2020, the Group will seize this opportunity to consider
possible enhancement of automation and digital management of
other warehouses, thereby laying a solid foundation.

Uncertainties continue to persist in various sectors in 2020, including
the logistics industry in mainland China. Enterprises must remain
vigilant, and closely monitor the development of the overall
economic situation, and timely take flexible and decisive measures
to control operational risks effectively.

The Company has been building up resources and considerable
industry experience. In view of the prevailing market environment,
we will safeguard our position by acting prudently. Our sound
financial condition with no borrowings and healthy cash flow will
help the Group effectively cope with challenges. On the other hand,
abundant financial resources will also help the Group seize business
opportunities that may emerge in economic downturn. We will adopt
a prudent and meticulous approach to exploring methods of
strategic cooperation, or merger and acquisition to achieve a
moderate level of business diversification, so as to expand revenue
base in the future.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Chalrmal’]'s Statement (continuea

APPRECIATION E &)

On behalf of the Group’s management, | would like to express my AAZRRAEBEEER—BEXHEAEENE
heartfelt thanks to our staff, shareholders, customers and business T - &5 « BF & BB LA T R o
partners for their support to the Group.

Li Jianxin EJ
Chairman REN
Hong Kong, 23 March 2020 B 202063 A23H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E A M

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group provides a wide range of logistics services to meet the
needs of the customers’ supply chains in the PRC, which include (i)
transportation; (ii) warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv)
customisation services (consisting mainly of labelling services and
bundling services).

The Group offers transportation services which primarily involve the
delivery of the customers’ production materials, components and
finished goods to their downstream clients, manufacturing plants
and/or designated locations. The Group has five warehouses located
in the Guangdong Province with a total gross floor area of
approximately 50,000 square metres which offer warehousing
services to customers. The Group's in-plant logistics services cover
the management of the movement of (i) production materials and
components and work-in-progress to the production lines within the
customers’ manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished goods out to their
factory gate. The Group's range of services gives it a competitive
advantage over other logistics service providers in the PRC which
offer only a limited range of services.

With a proven track record of providing flexible, reliable and timely
logistics services in the logistics industry, the Group has established
a broad customer base comprising customers from various
industries, including pharmaceutical, fast-moving consumer goods,
packaging, health and beauty and other industries. The Group trusts
that its ability to provide logistics services to customers for more
than two decades would not only enable the Group to generate
stable revenue, but also demonstrate its strength to perform logistics
services at a high quality standard and build up its reputation in the
logistics industry in the PRC. During the year under review, the Group
secured new customers engaging in the food industry which helped
the Group to further broaden its customer base.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET R

Since listing on GEM (the “Listing”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Group has gradually
carried out the implementation plans of those business objectives as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2017
(the “Prospectus”). In connection with the business objective of
upgrading one of the warehouses to strengthen the provision of
quality logistics services to our customers, the Group has completed
initial upgrade works on the construction of infrastructure facilities
and contracted with service providers for the design and installation
of automated storage facilities and software systems enhancement
in one of the warehouses. Preparation works for installation of the
automated storage facilities and air-conditioning systems have been
commenced since the first quarter of 2019. The installation of which
has been completed, pending trial run. On expanding the existing in-
plant logistics business in the North China and East China regions,
the Group has participated in the tendering process of potential
customers which include several large customers from various
industries including beverage, textile and pharmaceutical businesses.
The Group has also expanded its vehicle fleet by acquiring new
trucks and employing additional drivers for its transportation
business. In respect of enhancing sales and marketing effort, the
Group has participated in some industry exhibitions and conferences
and set up a sales and marketing department to oversee the Group's
existing and potential customer base as well as to capture additional
business opportunities via visits to customers’ operation plants in
both PRC and overseas. In late 2018, the Group set up a company in
Egypt aiming for expansion of its logistics business overseas and
currently, the Group offers domestic logistics management services
and international freight forwarding agency services in Egypt. A
comparison of the status of the implementation plans with the actual
business progress is also provided in a later section of this report.

The Group has successfully undergone the transfer of listing from
GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 19 December 2019
(the “Transfer of Listing"), which marked a new milestone in the
Company’s development. The directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) are confident that the Main Board trading platform will
enhance the corporate profile and public recognition of the Group,
which further enhance the business prospects of the Group, add to
its competitive strengths and create long-term value to its
shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET R

OUTLOOK

In 2020, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (the “Epidemic”)
outbreak has brought additional challenges in the Group’s operating
environment in China. Due to the outbreak of the Epidemic across
the mainland China, a number of provinces have taken various
emergency public health measures and other actions to prevent the
spread of the Epidemic, including imposing restriction on the
resumption date of work after the Chinese New Year Holidays. As far
as the Group’s businesses are concerned, the Epidemic has caused
some operational delays to the Group’s customers’ businesses and
in turn led to a lower demand for our services including in-plant
logistics, transportation and warehousing.

The Group will continue to assess the impact of the Epidemic on the
Group'’s operations and financial performance and closely monitor
the Group’s exposure to the risks and uncertainties in connection
with the Epidemic on an ongoing basis. In addition, cost savings
initiatives will be intensified in view of the challenging conditions.

Looking forward, capitalising on the continued expansion and
development of automated storage facilities and systems in our
warehouses, the Group is confident that it can maintain its
competitiveness and strengthen its market position in the logistics
industry in the PRC. The Group will continue to render high quality
services to its existing customers as well as actively solicit new
customers. Apart from having participated in the tenders for
provision of in-plant logistics services, the Group has also currently
participated in the tenders of some potential large-scale customers
from the food and beverage businesses, hoping to generate further
revenue for the Group’s transportation service and warehousing
service segments. Moreover, the Group aims to fully leverage the
strengths of the company in Egypt to provide freight forwarding
agency services to more Chinese enterprises in the region. The
Group also expects to actively diversify the logistics services to a
broader spectrum of industries, which in anticipation of any potential
change in the customers’ operation demand for logistics services,
the Group will also actively consider to explore business
opportunities to accommodate their needs.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET R

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group slightly decreased by approximately 0.7%
from approximately RMB211.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB209.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The decrease was mainly attributable to
the decrease in the transportation services and warehousing
services during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Revenue generated from the transportation services recorded a mild
decrease of approximately 1.1% from approximately RMB97.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB96.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in the
transportation services was mainly attributable to a decrease in
customers’ orders for domestic transportation services during the
year ended 31 December 2019, which was partly offset by the
increase in customers’ orders for international freight forwarding
agency services and additional revenue generated from the
expansion of transportation business overseas in Egypt.

Revenue generated from the warehousing services decreased by
approximately 6.2% from approximately RMB43.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB40.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in revenue was mainly
due to the decrease in leasable storage area owing to the expiration
of the lease of one of the warehouses which had not been renewed
since the end of 2018.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics services increased by
approximately 3.7% from approximately RMB69.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB72.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019, which was mainly contributed by the
increase in orders from our customers for the provision of in-plant
logistics services in their manufacturing plants.

Revenue generated from the customisation services amounted to
approximately RMB1.2 million and RMB0.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019, respectively. The
revenue contributed by this segment is subject to the demand for
the Group's labelling and bundling services from its customers on an
as-needed basis.
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Other income, gains and losses

Other income, gains and losses mainly consisted of bank interest
income, government grants and net exchange gains or losses. For
the year ended 31 December 2019, a net gain of approximately
RMB1.8 million (2018: net gain of approximately RMB0.7 million) was
recognised, mainly representing (i) an increase in net exchange gain
arising from the re-translation of foreign currency denominated
monetary items, (ii) government grants received as reward for
employment stabilisation of the Group, (iii) an increase in bank
interest income, (iv) value-added tax credit and (v) recognition of
interest income from rental deposits due to the adoption of HKFRS
16.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (iii)
other allowances and benefits. The Group’s employee benefits
expenses amounted to approximately RMB72.0 million and RMB75.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2019, respectively. The increase in employee benefits expenses of
approximately RMB3.5 million as compared to that of the year ended
31 December 2018 was primarily attributable to the increase in the
average monthly salary of our staff and workers and provision of
directors’ bonus, partly offset by the decrease in the associated
social security fund and insurance contribution. The Group had a
total of 865 and 828 full-time employees as at 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2019, respectively.

Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation services.
The Group's sub-contracting expenses amounted to approximately
RMB62.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
approximately RMB61.7 million). In general, the subcontractors
charged the Group based on the price stated in the subcontracting
agreements which specify the price for each type of services they
provided. Sub-contracting expenses were mainly incurred for the
orders for international freight forwarding agency services by our
customers during the year ended 31 December 2019, whereby the
Group, through outsourcing to independent subcontractors, assisted
the customers to obtain cargo space from shipping companies or
shipping agents that meet their requirements.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Operating lease rentals and depreciation of right-of-
use assets

Operating lease rentals include the lease rentals in respect of (i)
rented premises comprising warehouses, office premises and
temporary staff quarters; and (ii) rented plant and machinery and
office equipment such as forklifts. Due to the adoption of HKFRS 16,
operating lease rentals were nil for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB21.9 million). Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1
January 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets and the
corresponding lease liabilities in respect of all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets. Under HKFRS 16,
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life. As
a result, depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately
RMB17.2 million was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019, the lease liabilities
are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liabilities are
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of
lease modifications, amongst others. As a result, an interest expense
on lease liabilities of approximately RMB2.9 million was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Professional fee relating to Transfer of Listing

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company submitted
an application to the Stock Exchange in relation to the Transfer of
Listing and the Transfer of Listing was completed on 19 December
2019. Accordingly, non-recurring professional and consultancy fees
of approximately RMB8.9 million were incurred for the Transfer of
Listing for the year ended 31 December 2019 while the Group did not
incur any of such listing expenses for the year ended 31 December
2018.
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Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expenses
which mainly include fuel costs and maintenance expenses of our
fleet vehicles; (i) utilities expenses which mainly include water and
electricity expenses; (iii) office and telephone expenses which mainly
include general office expenses and long-distance calling fees; (iv)
insurance expenses for the warehouses and transportations; (v)
entertainment and travelling expenses for business soliciting; and (vi)
others which mainly include maintenance expenses for the
warehouses, professional fees and other miscellaneous expenses.
Other expenses amounted to approximately RMB23.2 million and
RMB27.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2019, respectively, and such increase was primarily due
to an increase in entertainment and travelling for business soliciting
and additional professional fees incurred for the Company’s listing
status.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a profit and total
comprehensive income for the year of approximately RMB9.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: approximately RMB22.2
million), representing a decrease of approximately RMB12.9 million.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s operation and investments were financed principally by
cash generated from its own business operations and the proceeds
from the Listing. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had net current
assets of approximately RMB88.5 million (at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMB107.4 million) and cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB71.4 million (at 31 December 2018: approximately
RMB64.3 million). The Directors confirm that the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due
in the foreseeable future.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of
total lease liabilities divided by total equity at the end of the year) of
the Group was 57.9% (at 31 December 2018: zero). The Group did not
have any bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2019. Such
increase in gearing ratio was solely attributable to the recognition of
lease liabilities due to the adoption of HKFRS 16 during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company successfully transferred the listing of its shares from
GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 19 December 2019.
There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company
arisen from the Transfer of Listing and up to the date of this report.
The capital structure of the Group consisted of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. The Group did not
have any bank borrowing as at 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this report. The Directors review the Group's capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, issuance of new shares as well as the issue of new debt.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group's business activities are principally in the PRC and are
primarily denominated in RMB. Certain subsidiaries of the Group had
foreign currency sales and purchases, which exposed the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Directors will continuously
monitor the related foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 December
2019 (at 31 December 2018: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2019 (at 31 December 2018: nil).
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total capital commitment
of approximately RMB7.2 million (at 31 December 2018:
approximately RMB14.8 million), representing capital expenditure
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 828 (at 31 December
2018: 865) full time employees. The Group determines the
employee’s remuneration based on factors such as qualification,
duty, contributions, work experience, the prevailing market
conditions and the Group's remuneration policy. Employees’ benefits
include contributions to retirement scheme and share options under
the Company’s share option scheme. To enhance the expertise of
our employees, the Group also provides them on-the-job training
and sponsors them to attend external training courses and seminars.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Comparison of business
objectives with actual business progress” and “Use of proceeds” of
this report, the Group does not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
Prospectus with the Group's actual business progress for the period
from the date of the Listing to 31 December 2019 is set out below:

Business objectives
E%ER

Implementation plans
Hista

EREREERRBEER 2LE

BREZERMESBZEASER ETAPRE
2019F 12 A3 B I BRI BER E K ER LR D
AT

Actual business progress
EREBER

Upgrading one of the warehouses
by installing automated storage
facilities and systems

BRTEAEERIBRERAR
Hh—AgkE

Expanding the existing in-plant
logistics business in the North
China and East China regions

BREMNELRERMENRE
BRYIRES

Obtain quotation from service providers and
discuss the scope of service with the service
providers
BEREHEEROREYARBRERN AR
BHE

Install automated storage facilities and
systems in one of the Group's existing
warehouses

RARERERERRBEIERRIERER

Conduct market research on the industry
trend and development especially in the
North China and East China regions

RELRERBERTEERRIRNETS
55

Participate in the tendering process of
potential customers
2EBERPHOREER

Hire approximately 30 additional staff for the
in-plant logistics business
BBRAMREBINENN0EET

Rent new forklifts and other equipment
HEH N E R E R

e Service contracts with service providers have been

signed and initial upgrade works on the construction of
infrastructure facilities have been completed.
BERREHERSRERE SN K EEREERAE
MPSHETIR -

The Group has entered into contracts with service
providers for the design and installation of automated
storage facilities and equipment and software
systems enhancement in one of the warehouses.
Preparation works for installation of the automated
storage facilities and air-conditioning systems have
been commenced in the first quarter of 2019. The
installation has been completed as at the date of this
report, pending trial run.
AREREY -2 EBELARRENRTREE
YHRGHLE - BREEERRT 764 B8R
FREREAEZGNREEBLEDR2019FE—F
ERBET - RARERH - RRE7TH - BRI -

Market researches on the industry trend and
development were performed.
TEBERERTSAECHET -

The Group has participated in the tendering process
of potential customers which include several large
customers from the beverage, textile and
pharmaceutical industries.

AEERL2RERRP (AESH  HAREBETES
FAER)HABERER -

The Group has hired over 30 additional staff for the
in-plant logistics business.
AEERABAMRERERBB0EET -

The plan has yet to be implemented.
FEIMRERE

AR (FE) ZRERAF
ZE-NFFR
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Business objectives Implementation plans Actual business progress
EBER Eiata EREBER
Expanding vehicle fleet o Acquire four trucks for transportation  Four trucks have been purchased and put in use.
N o EBEENFHEE RS o DHENHRETEALA -
¢ Hire approximately ten additional drivers for e Seven additional drivers have been on board.
transportation business o HTERLRABELEE -
o REHFEIENTEAK

Enhancing sales and marketing
efforts
MABHEREHNE

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

Participate in industry exhibitions and trade
fairs
SENXEESLEHE

Redesign and maintain the Company's
website for marketing purpose
BEEBEOENRG REERATEL

Set up a sales and marketing department and
hire approximately seven sales specialists
BRUHEREHIMTEROLEHESESR

The Group attended industry exhibitions which
include the 2018 Shanghai International Container
Exhibition 2018 L /B EIfR £ X4 E £ &) held in
Shanghai, PRC, the Third Global Logistics Technology
Conference 2018 2018 % — B 2 Bk A H T A &)
held at Haikou, PRC and the Guangdong 21st Century
Maritime Silk Road International Expo Theme Forum
2019 Q09ERNM 4G L KEREES =
##%12) held at Guangzhou, PRC.
AREHRETRRE(REEHE DERTN2018 L8
RERMEEEY ETEBOENRN0BE=EE
RYREMAS RERBEMNERN2019ER2HL
BEHE REREEEEERE)

The Company’'s website has been redesigned with
more graphics and picturesque images and has also
been enhanced by adding more company news and
industry information.

ARRMALEE ERNRE  ANTESERRER
WIEMT ARFERITEER

The sales and marketing department has been set up
and four sales specialists were employed.
BRUHEREHDMIUEANZHEES -

Staff representatives of the Group visited customers'
new factory plants overseas and a company has
been set up in Egypt for expansion of the Group's
logistics business overseas.
ARERNBERREDTEPRNEITEE - UREK
B —EAA URNEIMER AR BT ERS -
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USE OF PROCEEDS FR8RERZR

The net proceeds from the offering of the shares of the Company by 72 FILARR 5 346 J7 =X 2 & AR5 PR3 2008 B 58 (30
way of share offer, net of underwriting commission and relevant  Ba#4H4 MEER ) 44388 BEHE T °
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$38.8 million.

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the date of the & +H BEIR£ £2019F 12 A 31 B (- BRI FAE &

Listing up to 31 December 2019 is set out below: EFHEAESTHIIMT
Planned use of
het proceeds Actual
Planned use of (as stated in use of net
net proceeds the Prospectus) proceeds
(as stated up to up to
in the 31 December 31 December
Prospectus) 2019 2019
EE20195%
Bk 12A31H EE2019%
ERAR BEEE 12A31H
FR@RIE FREFr 8 FRERIE
BEH RIEREN BEH
RERE RERZ ERAZ
HKS$'million HKS'million HK$'million
BEAT BEAT BEAT

Upgrading one of the warehouses by installing  #@%E B A RERER
automated storage facilities and systems ZGHEEY—FERRE 18.0 18.0 15.8

Expanding existing in-plant logistics business — ER FIEELL RER @)

in the North China and East China regions BEBRYRER 6.0 6.0 2.8
Expanding vehicle fleet BAEN 40 40 2.7
Enhancing sales and marketing efforts MAHEREENE 40 40 26
Repaying the bank loans BERTER 4.0 4.0 4.0
General working capital —REEER 28 28 28
Total @t 388 388 30.7

feFT (RE) BERERAT | 21
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The business objectives as stated in the Prospectus were based on
the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the
Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The use of proceeds
was applied in accordance with the actual development of the
market.

As at 31 December 2019, approximately HK$30.7 million of the net
proceeds from the Listing had been used. The unused net proceeds
have been deposited in licensed banks.

In connection with the business objective of upgrading one of the
warehouses with automated storage facilities and systems, the
Group commenced the initial upgrade works on the construction of
infrastructural facilities of the designated warehouse and preparation
works for installation of the automated storage facilities and air-
conditioning systems since the year ended 31 December 2018. The
installation of automated storage facilities and systems in the
designated warehouse was originally scheduled to be completed
during the year ended 31 December 2018. However, due to the
unanticipated conditions in completing the power-supply
infrastructural facilities of the designated warehouse, additional time
and work have been taken for proceeding with the modification and
installation of other facilities including the air-conditioning systems
and the automated storage facilities. As a result, the completion of
the automation upgrade of the designated warehouse has been
extended to the year ended 31 December 2019 by the Group after
conducting more cautious review on its capital expenditure plans
and business development requirements. Subject to the progress of
trial-run of the automated storage facilities and systems, the Group
hopes that the commencement of its operational use will be in the
second quarter of 2020.

The Company intends to apply the net proceeds in the manner as
stated in the Prospectus. However, the Directors will constantly
evaluate the Group's business objectives and may change or modify
plans against the changing market condition to attain sustainable
business growth of the Group.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Jianxin (&%), aged 58 and is the younger brother of Mr.
Li Jianming, was appointed as Director on 22 November 2016 and
was redesignated as an executive Director and appointed as the
chairman of the Board on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianxin is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company and a member of the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Li Jianxin is responsible for managing
the overall operation and developing the overall strategic planning
and business management of the Group. Mr. Li Jianxin has over 20
years of experience in the logistics industry and in managing the
Group's operations and negotiating business deals with clients. Mr.
Li Jianxin has been the vice president of the Guangzhou Logistics &
Supply Chain Association (5 /M %7 7 B2 £t f& 2 1 &) since July 2005
and he completed a business administration course at the Sun Yat-
sen University in 2014.

Mr. Li Jianming (E#8), aged 460 and is the elder brother of Mr.
Li Jianxin, was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianming
is also a member of the Remuneration Committee. Currently, Mr. Li
Jianming is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Li Jianming is responsible for monitoring the business operation
and formulating sales strategies of the Group. He has approximately
20 years of experience in the logistics industry. Mr. Li Jianming joined
the Group in July 2005 as the general manager of the operating
subsidiary, namely Guangzhou World-Link (China) Co. Ltd. (J&/H &
RFHERYRABRAF), then known as Guangzhou Zhonglian World-
Link Warehousing and Transportation Company Limited (&M IR
F E ¥ % & B R 2 7)) and subsequently became its managing
director in August 2016. Mr. Li Jianming completed his secondary
school education in 1976.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence (iBi&i® ), aged 52, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. He is
the chairman of the Audit Committee. He is currently a director of an
accounting firm based in Hong Kong.

Dr. Wan obtained a bachelor of law degree from the Tsinghua
University, PRC in January 2004, and a doctorate degree of
philosophy in business administration from the Bulacan State
University in the Philippines in May 2006. Dr. Wan is a certified public
accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Dr. Wan has over 10 years of experiences in taxation
advisory, business management and accounting with several
professional accounting firms and companies.

From November 2015 to November 2019, Dr. Wan was an
independent non-executive director of Union Asia Enterprise
Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8173). From January 2014 to April 2015, Dr. Wan was an
independent non-executive director of China National Culture Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 745). From December 2015 to September 2018, Dr. Wan
was an independent non-executive director of Trillion Grand
Corporate Company Limited (now known as hmvod Limited), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8103).

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy (#i&R#), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Dr. Wu
is the chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Dr. Wu is currently a senior lecturer of the Department of
Accountancy and Law at The Hong Kong Baptist University, where he
has been employed since September 1999. He attained a doctorate
degree in law in December 2003, a postgraduate certificate in law in
June 1994 and a bachelor degree in law in November 1993, all from
The University of Hong Kong. He also obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in November 2013. His writings include the second edition of his co-
authored book on financial services published in early 2015. He is a
co-author of the Guide to Corporate Governance for Subvented
Organisations, the second edition of which was published by the
Hong Kong Government in June 2015.

Dr. Wu was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Convoy Financial Services Holdings Ltd (now known as Convoy
Global Holdings Ltd), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1019), from March 2010 to June 2015
and Wan Leader International Limited, a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8482) since August 2018. From 2006
to 2012, he was a member of the Advisory Group on Share Capital,
Distribution of Profits and Assets and Charges Provisions for the
rewrite of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong), on appointment by the Financial Services and Treasury
Bureau of the Hong Kong Government. From 2011 to 2016, he was a
member of the Advisory Group on Modernisation of Corporate
Insolvency Law, also on appointment by the Financial Services and
Treasury Bureau. He has been serving the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants as a director of a professional diploma
programme in insolvency since 2012.
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Mr. Shao Wei (BB{&), aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Mr. Shao is a member
of each of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Shao obtained an undergraduate degree in fine chemical
engineering from the Wuxi Institute of Light Industry in July 1998. Mr.
Shao was employed by KPMG Advisory (China) Limited from April
2013 to March 2019. His last position of the same company was a
director where he was responsible for offering management
consultation to clients, with a focus on strategy and business model
development, management and leadership enhancement,
organisation development and operation improvement. He is
currently a director of an internet company based in the PRC.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lin Jianfang (#®&13), aged 47, is the financial controller of the
Group. Ms. Lin joined the Group in December 1997 and has been the
financial manager since January 2008. Ms. Lin is responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial matters such as financial reporting,
accounting, tax and other compliance related matters of the Group. Ms.
Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the China Central
Radio and TV University (R EIEER AL ) in July 2006.

Mr. Jiang Xianchuan (58 ), aged 58, joined the Group since May
2000 and has been the chief operating officer since April 2010. Mr. Jiang
is mainly responsible for overseeing the Group’s project management
and warehousing and logistics operations. Mr. Jiang has over 18 years of
logistics operation experience. Mr. Jiang completed his high school
education in 1981.

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#8%%7), aged 43, joined the Group since February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang is
mainly responsible for negotiating the Group's service contracts with
customers and preparation of business performance analysis and
contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (= %y (R S i B &
&) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee (& B ¥ it 12 2L & filf &£ 8 &) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Ms. Fan Wing Ki (5E8k3), aged 45, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 31 March 2017. Ms. Fan is
registered as a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) with The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has over 18 years
of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and corporate
secretarial practices and procedures in Hong Kong. Prior to 2014,
Ms. Fan was employed by C.B. Wong & Co., an accounting firm in
Hong Kong, where her last held position was audit manager. After
her departure in 2014, Ms. Fan started her own practice of Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong.

Ms. Fan obtained a higher diploma in accountancy and a master of
arts degree in international accounting from the City University of
Hong Kong in 1998 and 2005 respectively. She has been a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2002
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2006.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company. To
accomplish this, the Company has adopted the principles and the
code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code") contained in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “"GEM Listing
Rules”) (applicable to the Company prior to the Transfer of Listing)
and Appendix 14 to the Main Board Listing Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) (applicable to the Company immediately after the Transfer
of Listing).

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
the GEM Listing Rules (applicable to the Company prior to the
Transfer of Listing), and the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (applicable to the Company
immediately after the Transfer of Listing), as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ transactions in the securities of the Company.
Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they had fully complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct adopted by the Company and
there was no event of non-compliance throughout the year ended 31
December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group’s business. The Board is
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-day
operation of the Group’s businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

The main functions performed by the Board include but are not
limited to the following matters:

o formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring
the implementation thereof;

o deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments,
divestments, disposals of assets or any significant capital
expenditure;

o approving of the Group’s financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the Listing Rules;

o developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group's corporate
governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group's
financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems,

o Board appointment and other major appointments or removal;
and

o monitoring the performance of the management.

ate Governance Report «contined
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As at 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS"):

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. Li Jianming (Chief executive officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this Annual Report.

Except for Mr. Li Jianming being the elder brother of Mr. Li Jianxin,
save as disclosed herein, which to the best knowledge of the
Company, there is no other relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the members
of the Board.

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules (applicable to the Company prior to the Transfer of Listing) and
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules (applicable to the Company immediately
after the Transfer of Listing), the Company has appointed three
INEDS, representing more than one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence, and the Company has assessed and considered
such Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the
various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Attributable to the industry nature of the Group’s business as a
logistics service provider, the Company currently has an all-male
Board, comprising two executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors have a balanced mix of
experiences, including business and operation management,
accounting and taxation, corporate governance, regulatory advisory,
business model and strategy development and logistics operations.
The education background of the Directors ranges from business
administration and accountancy to law and fine chemical
engineering, from education institutions in Hong Kong, the PRC and
the Philippines. The Group has also taken, and will continue to take
steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company,
including but not limited to the Board and senior management levels.
The Group recognises that gender diversity at the Board level can be
improved given its current composition of all-male Directors. To
implement gender diversity of the Board, the Group will find at least
one suitable female individual to join the Board by the end of 2020
and to maintain the presence of female representation at the Board
thereafter. The Group will adopt various measures to identify suitable
candidates, such as utilising the business networks of the Directors
and senior management and, if considered necessary, engaging the
services of executive search agents. It will continue to apply the
principle of appointments based on merits with reference to the
Board Diversity Policy as a whole.
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Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and board succession
planning, as applicable.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal action against its Directors and officers.

Training and Support for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.
The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities. In
accordance with the Code Provision A6.5 of the CG Code regarding
continuous professional development, the Company had received
the training record from each of the executive Directors, namely Mr.
Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming and each of the non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
and Mr. Shao Wei, who had attended training sessions and seminars
as well as read materials on corporate governance, updates on laws,
rules and regulations and accounting/financial/management or other
professional skills to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Board Meetings

The Board is scheduled to meet four (prior to the Transfer of Listing)/
two (after the Transfer of Listing) times a year at approximately
quarterly or half-yearly (where appropriate) intervals with notice
given to the Directors at least 14 days in advance. For all other Board
meetings, notice is given in a reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an
agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the
meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.

ate Governance Report «contined
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees”
including, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee) meetings during the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out in the table below:

ERAERESHFERLE

REBE2019F12A31MBIEFE  SEFENES
eon BREACREZZEe((EEEAYE
BREEZEZES FTMEECSRIEREZES)S

2 HEEHHINTE -

Meetings Attended and Eligible to Attend

BHERAERIHFZEE
Annual General
Meeting held
Audit Remuneration  Nomination on 24 May
Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee 2019
1®2019%
5A24A8fTZ
34 ENZAE FHZRE REZEE BREFKE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Jianxin Rt 5/5 N/A i@ N/A T3 F Il 11
Mr. Li Jianming bl 5/5 N/A TEA n N/A @R 1n
Independent non-executive Directors &5 7EE
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence RERET 4/5 4/4 N/A T &R N/A TER 1n
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy HREET 5/5 4/4 7 N N
Mr. Shao Wei BExE 5/5 4/4 17 Il N
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FEREEHITE

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The roles of the Group’s Chairman and CEO are
complimentary, but importantly distinct and separate. Mr. Li Jianxin,
executive Director, is the Chairman and is responsible for the
leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while Mr. Li Jianming, executive Director, is the CEO and
is responsible for monitoring the business operation and formulating
sales strategies of the Group.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of service commencing from the date of
the Listing and shall continue thereafter subject to a maximum of
three years unless terminated by either party giving not less than
one month’s notice in writing.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, were
established by the Board with defined terms of reference explaining
their respective roles and the authority delegated by the Board.
These defined terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference (as revised on 30 January 2019)
in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C.3 of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting, and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, namely, Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, four meetings of the Audit
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group's quarterly,
interim and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and
compliance under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the re-
election of auditor of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 3.25 to 3.27 of the Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the CG
Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianming, and two INEDs, being
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A.5 of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianxin, and two INEDs, being Dr.
Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 30 January 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

o character and integrity

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

J any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board

o requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules

] any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company

o such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning

ate Governance Report «contined
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Nomination Process

@

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Ccompany, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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(b)  Re-election of Director at General Meeting

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no new Director was
appointed.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting, at which all members of the
Nomination Committee (i) reviewed the structure, size and
composition as well as the diversity of the Board; (ii) assessed the
independence of the INEDs; and (iii) recommended to the Board for
consideration the re-appointment of all the retiring Directors at the
Annual General Meeting. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company'’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The Company has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its
external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2019. Details of
the fees paid/payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the year
are as follows:

ate Governance Report contined
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RMB’000

AR%TR

Audit services FEAZIRTE 1,151
Non-audit services (Note) JEE R (K aE) 1,297
Total 4t 2,448

Note: Non-audit services represented services rendered in relation to the Transfer of
Listing.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements are
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 63 to 68 of this
Annual Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has entered into a service contract with an external
service provider, pursuant to which Ms. Fan Wing Ki (“Ms. Fan”)
was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 31
March 2017. Ms. Fan is not an employee of the Group and she is
responsible for advisory to the Group on corporate governance
matters. Ms. Lin Jianfang, financial controller of the Group, is the
person whom Ms. Fan can contact for the purpose of code provision
F.1.1 of the CG Code. Ms. Fan has been informed of the requirement
of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, and she confirmed that she had
attained no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year of 2019. Biographical information of Ms. Fan is set
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Li Jianxin was appointed as the compliance officer (the
“compliance Officer”) of the Company on 31 March 2017 and
ceased to be the Compliance Officer on 19 December 2019 after the
listing of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Li's profile is provided under the paragraph headed "Executive
Directors” in the section of “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM shall
be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

ate Governance Report «contined
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Procedures for shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such questions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Room E, 10/F, Full Win Commercial Centre, 573 Nathan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong or via telephone at +86 20 38770505.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the articles of
association, shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Save for the adoption of a new Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company by a special resolution passed on 26
September 2017 and became effective on 18 October 2017 for the
purpose of the Listing, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2019.

To reflect the Transfer of Listing of the issued shares of the Company
from GEM of the Stock Exchange to the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 19 December 2019, the Board proposes to seek the
approval of its shareholders to pass a special resolution at the 2020
annual general meeting to amend the articles of association of the
Ccompany.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and the Company, in general, information is communicated to the
Shareholders mainly through the Company’s interim reports, annual
reports and quarterly reports (if any), general meetings, as well as
the corporate communications and publications published on the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the
Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com).

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

ate Governance Report contined

BRAZESFSHLEHNEF

BREAIRMA . ERARABSERTRAA
EENEEEREEARER - ﬁﬁ'a}mﬁﬁ o
B BRAREZNUBFEARRMILESNE
WMAESBREEREFOI0OEBEENBANE
+86 20 38770505 &3

BRRBERAGRERZEZIEF
B8 Bt & A RIA (SR RT) 3 M SO FFRR SR BBR
RAG LBMIRER - AW - RIBAKERE
Al BEBRABRORATRE LRRFER
AHRFBAIAE -

i

BEXH

B 201749 A 26 A@iAI 72017 10 A 18 B

AR Bh T BRAR AR D BT AR AR EE FE KA K 4
B —IER BRI - AR R B E X RE

E2019F 12 A31 AL FEW mEE) -

>

RREARNEEBETRHOR2019F 12198 H
B FTGEMB BB ER LT - EEEEFEN
2020 F IR REF A S RE R R A BB
ARERDMEFT AR RIMABEIZMAA -

REERE

RERAA TR ([BR]) BARQE 2 BT
k- @ ZRENRER BN —RME
ARRMBRREEEAZRENFTERERT
RHIRRE FMURFERS (E)  BREX®
DA R 2 B 22 BT 48 3 (www.hkexnews.hk) A & R A
F48uh (www.goalrise-china.com) TI) & ~ A &8
K4 o


http://www.goalrise-china.com

corp

1=

mf 2

N AN B o s
/8 #& =

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor
will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Group establishes and maintains appropriate review on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which cover financial, operational and
compliance controls, to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the
Group's assets. The Board oversees the overall risk management of
the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating
measures. The principal risks and the relevant measures have been
disclosed in the section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in
the Report of the Directors contained in this Annual Report. The
Group's systems of risk management and internal controls are
designed to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute, assurance against the risk of material misstatement, fraud
or loss.
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The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management and external auditors, conducted a
review of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2019 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing
restrictions. Any inside information and any information which may
potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified,
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on
the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in due course.

Dividend Policy

On 30 January 2019, the Board has approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future business growth and its shareholding value.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

TRANSFER OF LISTING

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing”) and have been
transferred from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
effect from 19 December 2019 (the “Transfer of Listing").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law").

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set forth in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of logistics services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 22 of this Annual Report. These discussions
form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, major risks are summarised below and further details
of the Group's financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in note 27(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Concentration risk of reliance on limited humber of
customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue from a limited
number of customers. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
five largest customers of the Group contributed approximately 89.8%
of total revenue to the Group. There is a risk that these significant
customers to cancel or terminate the service agreements with the
Group without cause and no assurance that these significant
customers will continue their business relationship with the Group or
that the revenue generated from these customers will increase or be
maintained in the future. The Group will continue to expand the
customer base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The industry in which the Group operates is fragmented. The Group
may be less competitive than some of its competitors in terms of
scale of operations and cannot assure that it will be able to continue
to compete successfully in its existing markets. The Group is
committed to compete in the market based on its ability to provide
comprehensive, flexible and reliable logistics services to its
customers and price.

Reliance on subcontractors for handling transportation
services

Certain transportation services are subcontracted to independent
third party subcontractors. Performance of our subcontractors for
transportation services may fail to meet the requirements of the
Group or those of our customers which may lead to a delay or failure
in delivering our services to our customers. There is no assurance
that the Group would be able to closely monitor the performance of
the subcontractors but the Group will try to maintain and enhance its
business relationship with the subcontractors for providing good
quality of transportation services to the customers.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services so
that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group's standards at all
times.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company'’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. The establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this report, the Group has complied in material aspects with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Further details are disclosed in
the “"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which will be
published on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 28 to 44 of this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 154
of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 72 of this Annual Report, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and retained profits,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
amounted to approximately RMB10.4 million (2018: RMB20.8 million),
of which nil dividend was proposed for the year. Under the
Companies Law, the share premium account of the Company of
approximately RMB37.8 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB37.8 million) is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of
association and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The Company's share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company or the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September
2017 (the "Prospectus”), is set out on pages 155 to 156 of this
Annual Report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the Listing, the Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September
2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the Listing. The
Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following the
Transfer of Listing and in full compliance with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the Eligible
Persons (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) as rewards
or incentives for their contribution to the Group.
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The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares of the Company, being 10% of
the total number of shares in issue at the time dealings in the shares
first commence on the Stock Exchange and there was no change in
the total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued share
capital that it represented as at the date of this report.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
Participant (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to Share
Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each Participant and shall be the highest of () the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the share options, which
must be a trading day of the Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the share
options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are contained in the
section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

No share option has been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled or
lapsed pursuant to the Share Option Scheme since its adoption by
the Company and up to 31 December 2019.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin
Mr. Li Jianming

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei
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In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Li Jianxin, Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence and Mr.
Shao Wei will retire by rotation and be eligible to offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the Group,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 23 to 27 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
date of the Listing. The independent non-executive Directors, namely
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy and Mr. Shao Wei,
have been appointed for a term of three years commencing from the
date of the Listing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The
remuneration of the executive Directors is subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee, and their remuneration is determined
with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the
independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the
information of the Directors of the Company since the date of the
last third quarterly report are set out below:

Directors’ Emoluments

Starting from 1 January 2020, the salary and allowance of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming were
adjusted to RMB1,320,000 and RMB720,000 per annum, respectively.
Starting from 1 January 2020, the director’s fee for each of Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei was
adjusted to RMB116,163 per annum. Their director’s fee were
approved by the Remuneration Committee and the Board.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at 31 December 2019 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2019 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFQ), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:
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Approximate

Number and class percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity of securities shareholding

EEgR S EHEHARER EEEHESLL

Mr. Li Jianxin (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 37.91%
interest held jointly with another person Ordinary Shares

R & A (MaE) REGLEEELR  BE - ATHREREER 303,300,000 37.91%
&=l

Mr. Li Jianming (Note)  Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 37.91%
interest held jointly with another person Ordinary Shares

RGRRASE A (BY7E) REGEEER  BE - ATHEFEOER 303,300,000 37.91%
[ &=g il

Note: Goal Rise Profits Limited (“Goal Rise") is the registered and beneficial owner
holding approximately 37.91% of the issued shares of the Company. The issued
share capital of Goal Rise is owned as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin and 20% by Mr. Li
Jianming. By virtue of acting in concert arrangement between Mr. Li Jianxin and
Mr. Li Jianming which is confirmed and documented in the Concert Parties
Confirmatory Deed, each of Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming is deemed to be
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report
were rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate. As at 31 December 2019, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company held any share
options of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME"
above, no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or (ii) requires the Company enter into any
agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares,
was entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2019 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FERFRAROGRAEERG P RIE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND wmRAR

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to the Directors, the — 20195128318 @ BEEMAE - FHIALOE
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the JEEFHARTHZSITHA E) RIRD k48R
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in - % F#E B sk #48 A G R IR B 5 & S & 65 XV
the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to #8552 } 39 B {5 X B A1 78 2 &) 3 7 HO b 25 38004
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of & : siaR 8RR AR RIIR 15 B 5 & 51 5 (& 101 55 336
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept K EBFE 7 S 2MmlERSOXE sk EHE s RE
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or  # & i # 4 R PME1E R T AT E AR A &7 R AR
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any K& & = s {F{a] 48 BI IR ANE 18 5% sk bA_F#E%
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at

general meetings of the Company:

Approximate
Number and class percentage of

Name of shareholders Capacity of securities  shareholding

BREE S EHFBEREHN RESNEIL

Goal Rise (Note 1) Beneficial owner 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

fert (Hrat1) EnEAA 303,300,000 37.91%
e

Ms. Chen Ruihua (Note 2) Interest of spouse 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

BRInEL T (HiF2) fliEmEs 303,300,000 37.91%
e A

Ms. Wu Xiaojie (Note 3) Interest of spouse 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

RNBL A (HiF3) fliEmEs 303,300,000 37.91%
e

Mr. Zhu Zhijian (“Mr. Zhu") (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 166,700,000 20.84%
Ordinary Shares

REREE (TREE]) (Hta) EEfEE R 166,700,000 20.84%
P s A

Portree Wealth Limited ("Portree Wealth") Beneficial owner 166,700,000 20.84%
(Note 4) Ordinary Shares

RERTEARAD((REEAME] (Wite) ERmHEA 166,700,000 20.84%
el
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Notes:

1. Goal Rise is the registered and beneficial owner holding approximately 37.91% of
the issued shares of the Company. The issued share capital of Goal Rise is owned
as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin and 20% by Mr. Li Jianming. By virtue of acting in
concert arrangement between Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming which is
confirmed and documented in the Concert Parties Confirmatory Deed, each of
Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming is deemed to be interested in the entire
shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chen Ruihua is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianxin and is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.

3. Ms. Wu Xiaojie is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianming and is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.

4. Portree Wealth is the registered owner holding approximately 20.84% of the
issued shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Portree Wealth
is owned by Mr. Zhu. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares registered under the name of Portree Wealth.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors are
not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits
Limited, in respect of their compliance with the non-competition
undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed such undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Li Jianxin,
Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits Limited have complied with the
non-competition undertaking during the year ended 31 December
2019.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this report, as notified
by Titan Financial Services Limited (“Titan"), the compliance adviser
of the Company, save for the compliance adviser agreement entered
into between the Company and Titan on 2 February 2019, neither
Titan, nor any of its directors, employees or close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests in the securities of the
Company or any other companies of the Group (including options or
rights to subscribe for such securities) which is required to be
notified to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, charitable donations of
approximately RMB26,000 were made by the Group (2018:
RMB25,000).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 41.8% (2018: 26.8%) of the Group’s total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 74.1%
(2018: 74.0%) of the Group's total direct costs.

In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 89.8% (2018: 87.6%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
31.0% (2018: 36.1%) of the Group's total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2019.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017 with
written terms of reference (as revised on 30 January 2019) in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and any questions regarding resignation or
dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the financial
statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if any), and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including review of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (“AGM”") of the Company will be held on
Wednesday, 27 May 2020. A notice convening the AGM will be issued
and sent to the shareholders of the Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 21 May 2020 to Wednesday, 27 May 2020, both days
inclusive during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM or
any adjournment thereof, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 20 May 2020.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Board is not aware of any important events affecting the Group,
which have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 were audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
the independent auditor, who shall retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and to authorise the Directors
to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Li Jianxin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
& Az B RN R

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GOAL RISE LOGISTICS (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED
@74 (hE) BRERRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
69 to 154, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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5 ST AR BT R s

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a

FARENER
RREFFEREETSNEXHE T HETAH
AP BHRAMNERAEENER - BEERE
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B BESTERZERERFRRER

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter
REETE=R

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EEFEENPEEREENFERIAE

Estimated provision of expected credit losses for trade receivables

B ERZEAEEGREER

We identified the estimated provision of expected
credit losses for trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significant management
judgment involved in assessing the recoverability
of trade receivables.

EZERB S REBRENTEREEEBMTRERR
REARENFE DHAREEERTHE ZERK
I8 A] [ Y 1 B 5 B BB K B P ER

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the provision of
expected credit losses for trade receivables,
management assesses individually for each
significant trade debtors and collectively for others
using provision matrix by groupings of various
trade debtors that have similar loss patterns as
reflected in the debtors’ aging profiles. The
provision rates are estimated using the historical
observed default rates of the debtors taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonably and supportably available to the
directors of the Company without undue costs or
effort, and are updated if considered to be
required.
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BRI BT Z 18 E 5 AR K 5 & FI BB E
BREMEME S EBIREFETRET G - BEXR
BEEBANBERERNE - KER BERRES
EALBNEKRARAEMSE A FEISHOATIE T
BERMmAESE  BEETIREETUER -

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of trade
receivables as at 31 December 2019 is
RMB65,018,000 and management concluded that
allowance for credit losses of trade receivables for
the year ended 31 December 2019 is insignificant.

MEr A SRR 16T E - 1 2019F12 A
318 ' BZREWGUBMIREE A AR 65,018,000
T MERBRAEE2019F12A3MBIEFE
NESRVZIBEEBERBERTERK -
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Our procedures in relation to estimated provision of expected
credit losses for trade receivables included:
EEHEME S REWHENEREE BB BENEF TS

Obtaining an understanding of management’s process in
assessing the estimated provision of expected credit losses
for trade receivables;
THREBREMRTHE S ERRFIENEREEERMGATREY
BAR

Assessing management’s basis in determining allowance
for credit losses for the individually significant trade
receivables identified with reference to the historical
default rates and the reasonableness of the forward-
looking information being considered;
FMEEREAETEANMNENERE ZERFENEER
BERERFOELE W2FRTHRERMEEGAEEER
REIRE

Evaluating the reasonableness of management's grouping
of trade debtors other than those individually significant
ones identified according to the similarities of historical loss
patterns,
AMEEEEREATEEEANEUZERZEEHA 2
PEEENINZ B G RIEETR D EN AN

Assessing the reasonableness of management'’s basis in
determining allowance for credit losses for trade debtors
other than those individually significant ones identified by
examining the historical default rates applied in each
category of the provision matrix of the trade debtors, on a
sample basis; and the reasonableness of the forward-
looking information being considered; and
FRMERECSEANRZSESIEBARBEREERNBEER
o FHMEEEERE BN EREEE INGE 5 IR
FIEENEEERBEMAEENSREE  REME RS
A ER SR &

Checking the mathematical accuracy of management'’s
estimated allowance for expected credit losses of trade
receivables for the individually significant trade receivables
and those under the provision matrix.
HEREREREKNE S EUGRIA N K& SRR B
BORWFIEGFANE S RNFIEEREEEERE 2 HE
EMEIHEITIRE ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Hith &%
BEAMEFHEMANAE - Kt AN QEFE
FIBEE R - T B R ORA M RR R
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B2 AUFFEERERRL - EREF
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RERRI - BEAREZFE - LME - &
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAsS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2020

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

BEERETEALBBNEERD  REWLEHE
HEFAPRGEVBRRMEHAEE - A
BRERETFR - RIDARIERTBFAH
BELEER IRNEEENERT  BFRRE
B ERATEEEMN IR AR GBEB A RNE
HEBENNSEMAERRSHRE  SRIESS
R BED RS P F R -

BY B RENETBE SR AREEN

fEEh « FAEBRS FatEm T
HEE A

B

202043 A 23 H



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
EEmMEMEE NS

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

2019 2018
20195 2018 &
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
HizE AR®TTT AREBTT
Revenue WS 5] 209,750 211,271
Other income, gains and losses HAag A - Uiz R EE 1,825 689
Employee benefits expenses EERAFY (75,456) (71,992)
Sub-contracting expenses DERY (61,955) (61,681)
Operating lease rentals KEHERS = (21,907)
Depreciation of property, M BEMERETE
plant and equipment (2,076) (2,953)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE (17,166) -
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaENERY (2,914) -
Professional fee relating to EiR AR EER
transfer of listing 1 (8,867) -
Other expenses HibfX (27,185) (23,157)
Profit before taxation B AT A 15,956 30,270
Income tax expenses FrSfiFA X 7 (6,635) (8,033)
Profit and total comprehensive income FRRMEEER LR
for the year 8 9,321 22,237
Earnings per share FRRAF 11
— Basic, RMB cents —EAR - AR¥ESD 1.17 278

AR (FE) BRERAR | 69
B NEEH



70

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

sre MR

At 31 December 2019 #2019 12H31H

2019 2018
2019 2018 F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
K et AR®TR AREBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMBNE E
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 12 19,803 6,102
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 13 72,031 -
Rental deposits Heke 14 3,097 3,326
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 15 385 =
95,316 9,428
CURRENT ASSETS MBNE E
Trade and other receivables and B 5 K H A FEU IR A &
prepayments TE B 16 68,867 81,492
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIIRE 17 71,419 64,284
140,286 145,776
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAaE
Trade and other payables and B 5 R H A FIE &
accrued expenses EETFI 18 30,540 32,118
Lease liabilities %Efié E 19 15,318 -
Tax payable FERTRRIE 5,894 6,244
51,752 38,362
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 88,534 107,414
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&ER B EE 183,850 116,842
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 19 57,687 -
NET ASSETS BEFE 126,163 116,842

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position contined
EEMISIRR R

At 31 December 2019 2019412 H31H

2019 2018
2019 2018
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
KtaF AR®TT ARET T

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARN
Share capital i¥N 20 6,761 6,761
Reserves & 119,402 110,081
TOTAL EQUITY M 25 126,163 116,842

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 154 were %69 % 154 B 4G A &&= 2R 20204 3 A
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 23 HEE =& & RIERETIZ - WH TIES

March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: REREE
Li Jianxin Li Jianming
REHm £ L
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EF

I (hE) ERERAR | 71
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H— N Z
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019F 12431H I F/E

Attributable to the owners of the Company

e YNGIE EPNGL
Share Share Statutory Other Retained
capital premium reserve reserve  profits Total
BFx RORR EERE At 2 GEEN it
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
(note 20) (Note)
(Fs220) (Frit)
At 1 January 2018 R2018E 1A 18 6,761 37,763 4,686 27,094 18,301 94,605
Profit and total comprehensive  EREF & 2 B 248
income for the year - - - - 22,237 22,237
Transfers B - - 2,246 - (2,246) -
At 31 December 2018 #2018 12 A31H 6,761 37,763 6,932 27,094 38,292 116,842
Profit and total comprehensive  FREFI k2 B E%E
income for the year - - - - 9,321 9,321
Transfers R - - 2,091 - (2,091) -
At 31 December 2019 M2019%12 A31E 6,761 37,763 9,023 27,094 45522 126,163

Note:

It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of the Company established in

the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, the subsidiary in the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit
after taxation, as determined under the relevant accounting principles and

financial regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC, to a non-

distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered

capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a

dividend to owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years’
losses, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ fﬁbi //Zﬁs%i'%

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

2019 2018
20195 2018 ¢
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARKBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES K TES)
Profit before taxation B Rt B 15,956 30,270
Adjustments for: BT SBEL AR :
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENMRETE
equipment 2,076 2,953
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 17,166 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE - BE MEREESE
equipment 6 7
Unrealised exchange losses (gains) FEIRIE FE5E (RES) 39 (298)
Bank interest income RITFLBUA (641) (409)
Interest income on rental deposits AeReFBRA (127) -
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEFNERXZ 2,914 -
Operating cash flows before movements BEEASEBIIKLEESRE
in working capital 37,389 32,523
Increase in rental deposits paid B SZReEM (353) (24)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other B 5 Ko H b [ W 5008 LA F2 FB A 5018
receivables and prepayments ek (22 n) 12,625 (13,195)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other B 5 I H A BT FRIA A R BT 2
payables and accrued expenses CRLA) 1 (1,578) 8,145
Cash generated from operations KEMEERS 48,083 27,449
Income tax paid B ATSR (7,370) (8,088)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R EBMELRSFE 40,713 19,361
INVESTING ACTIVITIES WEEE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B E4% - E R EE (15,785) (2,089)
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEYE - BRE MREMSHKIE
plant and equipment 2 111
Interest income received EF B WA 641 409
Repayment from a related party G R B R = 1,726
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING WEEE(FTA)MEELRSFE
ACTIVITIES (15,142) 157

EFIR (FE) ZERERDA | 73
ZE-NFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (contined

e RERER®

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

2019 2018
20195 2018 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRE AREKETT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB EE
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEEE (18,397) =
Repayments to related parties ) Bt 77 S AR = (646)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES & EE FTRIR a5 (18,397) (646)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERBeEEYILINFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 7,174 18,872
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ExgHre
CHANGES (39) 298
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FURERREEFED
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 64,284 45,114
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRBeRREESEY -
AT END OF THE YEAR, BIRTTHEM AR ®
represented by bank balances and cash 71,419 64,284

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE ISR R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

GENERAL

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. During the year, the Company completed
the transfer of listing of its shares from GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) to the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The immediate and ultimate
holding company is Goal Rise Profits Limited (incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). Mr. Li Jianxin (“Mr. Li JX") and Mr. Li
Jianming, who are acting in concert, are the ultimate controlling
party of the Company. The address of the Company’s
registered office and the principal place of business is
disclosed in the section “Corporate Information” in the annual
report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
30.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is same as the functional currency of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conined)

2 A B R 2 B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSS that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative

HKFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases” ("HKAS 17"), and
the related interpretations.

76 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)
SO PBBEN T

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. EA#HITEABMBREEN(E

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)
Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4 "Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply this standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts
which already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance
with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing
whether a contract contains a lease.

AS a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the
related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition.
Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised in
the opening retained profits and comparative information has
not been restated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conied

2 A B R 2 B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12H31H 1 F/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)
AS a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent

relevant to the respective lease contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous
by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment
review;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application;

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
a similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying
assets in similar economic environment; and

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at
date of initial application in determining the lease term
for the Group's leases with extension and termination
options.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contied
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

AS a lessee (Continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entity at the
date of initial application. The weighted average incremental
borrowing rate applied is 5.16%.

FERFEI ERMBHREER(EH
M BREED ) REEITE
(&)
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EEMBRELELNE165EEAE(E)
ERAFNA (B)
MEMDBEAKEHENTHERRHEESR
B NEEBCRNERERBHERER
EEERAESERFE - FERMNME
TG E TR A5.16% °

At 1 January
2019
®2019%
181H
RMB’000
AR®TT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 720184 12 A 31 BT M L& &R iE
31 December 2018 67,366
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant RS EERAETENHEEAE
incremental borrowing rates 53,309
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases g : R % — GHIRE (215)
Practical expedient — leases with lease AITREE R — AR EXERABH
term ending within 12 months from Bt 12E AREREE
the date of initial application (9)
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 B2019F1 B 1HNBEEARE 53,085
Analysed as k=]
Current RIER 13,028
Non-current JERNER 40,057
53,085
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conied
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019F 12431H I F/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)
AS a lessee (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1
January 2019 comprises the following:

2. ERHIERMBREEN(E

M BREED ) REEITER
(&)

RANE E 8 6l £ A FE] BB
I RE R R EEFT A )

BRPBEREERE 165 [HEI(HF)
(ERZHEA (B)

R209F1ATEBEMFEERNEREE
ERmMAERETYIEE

Right-of-use
assets
FREEE
RMB'000
N
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases JERERYVEMELERF 165 EEREH

recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 CEHENFEREEE 53,085

Adjustments on rental deposits 20191 A1 B SRS EL AR (KT
at 1 January 2019 (Note) 426
53,511

Note: Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered refundable
rental deposits paid as rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS
17 applied under other receivables. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right to use of the underlying assets and were adjusted to reflect the
discounting effect at transition. Accordingly, RMB426,000 was adjusted to
refundable rental deposits paid and right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contied
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

ERAFHI T EREERN(E
BUEREER ] REEFTR
()

RN [ 58 il AE A FT 5] BB
W iEmEER R EASET A (@)

EEMBRELELNE165EEAE(E)

A THAZBEE2019F1 B 1B A R
MEERNESEEL - AZEHFENE
BRI RAA o

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at 31 HKFRS 16 at
December 2018 Adjustments 1 January 2019
2019 F

18181

2018 BERMB®mE
128318 %5 ZERIZE 1658
Z2HMEREE I VAR E &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Non-current assets ERBHEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Rental deposits Heke
Current liabilities b4 A=K
Lease liabilities HEaE

Non-current liabilities ERBAR
Lease liabilities HEaE

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under
indirect method for the year ended 31 December 2019, movements in
working capital have been computed based on opening consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above.

- 53,511 53,511
3,326 (426) 2,900
- 13,028 13,028
- 40,057 40,057

HfaF - BRREHE 2019412 A31 A L FEREREEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conined)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform?*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period

beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continea
A IR IRE I S e

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition
of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

. replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

. include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too
broad when deciding what information to disclose in the
financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSS
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period
beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect
the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
Statements.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “New Framework”) and the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

. introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights
and a new liability definition that is likely to be broader
than the definition it replaces, but does not change the
distinction between a liability and an equity instrument;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “New Framework”) and the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards (continued)

o discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

. states that the primary measure of financial performance
is profit or loss, and that only in exceptional
circumstances other comprehensive income will be used
and only for income or expenses that arise from a
change in the current value of an asset or liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New
Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the
previous versions of the framework. These amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020, with earlier application permitted. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the
framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework on its
effective date in determining the accounting policies especially
for transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise
dealt with under the accounting standards.

The Group has not early applied any new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
these new and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)
e EFE®

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting policies which conform with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of the reporting period as
explained in the accounting policies set out below. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for services rendered.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements are determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1
January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinea
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETBERw®

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service (or a bundle of
services) that is distinct or a series of distinct services that are
substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=20194 12431 H 1FF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS
9"). In contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of services.

Income from transportation service, warehousing service,
in-plant logistics service and customisation service

For revenue from (i) transportation service; (i) warehousing
service; and (iii) in-plant logistics service, for which the control
of service is transferred when the Group had provided the
related services over the service period, revenue is recognised
when the customers simultaneously received and consumed
respective services.

For revenue from customisation service which control of
labelling and bundling services are transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the customers accept the
services and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contied
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 220194 12H31H 1 F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of staff quarters that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contied
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date,

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees,

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contied
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 220194 12H31H 1 F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals
arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered as
integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a
straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conied
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 220194 12H31H 1 F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ontinea
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the subsidies will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
subsidies are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government subsidies whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including government-managed retirement benefit scheme,
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (continued)

In addition, corporate assets are allocated to individual cash
generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and
is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or l0ss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade debtors arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or l0ss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=20194 12431 H 1FF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contied
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 220194 12H31H 1 F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables and bank balances and cash) which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and collectively for those with similar
credit risk characteristics using a provision matrix, which based
primarily on the debtors’ aging profiles, grouped by debtor
balances that are not yet due and different aging brackets of
numbers of days past due.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 10ss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 220194 12H31H 1 F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower,

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceeding or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over three years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=20194 12431 H 1FF/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is

credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conied

2 A B R 2 B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12H31H 1 F/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
All financial liabilities of the Group including trade and other

payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)
e EFE®

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables

The management of the Group assesses ECL for trade
receivables individually for each significant trade debtors and
collectively for others using provision matrix by groupings of
various trade debtors that have similar historical loss patterns
as reflected in the debtors’ aging profiles, grouped by debtor
balances that are not yet due and different aging brackets of
numbers of days past due.

The provision rates applied in the assessments of the
individually significant trade receivables and in the provision
matrix are estimated using the historical observed default rates
of the debtors taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonably and supportably available
without undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting
period, these historical loss rates are reassessed and updated
if required after considering the forward-looking information
then available.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables
are disclosed in notes 27 and 16.
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5. REVENUE
(@) Disaggregation of the Group'’s revenue

(@ AEEXBEEFAON

from contracts with customers B AT
2019 2018
20195 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Types of services REAR
Transportation service B R 96,607 97,684
Warehousing service B RS 40,334 43,014
In-plant logistics service TR A7 AR 7S 72,013 69,415
Customisation service TE RARTE 796 1,158
Total st 209,750 211,271
Timing of revenue recognition ISR i2ER
Over time R—ERERE A 208,954 210,113
At a point in time RE 796 1,158
209,750 211,271

All services are provided within a period of less than one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The performance obligations for contracts with
customers of the Group’s major sources of revenue are
as follow:

Transportation service: delivery of the customers’
inventory to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations.
The transportation services cover across the PRC
and in Egypt.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

5. REVENUE (continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
CUStomers (continued)

Warehousing service: provision of inventory storage
and management services in the Group's
warehouses located in the PRC with specified
physical conditions.

In-plant logistics service: provision of wide-range of
in-house services at customers’ manufacturing
plants to integrate the production processes, which
cover the management of the movements of (a)
production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the
manufacturing plants of the customers of the
Group; and (b) delivery of finished goods to the
factory gates of the relevant customers deployed
by staff of the Group at its customers’
manufacturing plants.

Customisation service: provision of labelling
services (i.e. sticking labels onto the surface of the
inventory according to customers” instructions) and
the bundling services (i.e. bundling the inventory to
facilitate handling and transportation) generally
provided inside the Group’s warehouses.

The Group recognises its revenue from the provision of
the transportation service, warehousing service and in-
plant logistics service over time as the customers receive
and consume the benefits of the Group’s performance as
it occurs. The Group recognises its revenue from
customisation service at a point in time when the
customers accept the services and the Group has
present right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable. The payment terms and credit
terms (if any) are set out in note 16.

(b)

ﬁﬁ(%)

XPEANBENE T @)

s  REHRF: EAKEMRNTE
AR E AN R B
FEIrEMREERT -

s HAMRRE: EXEPHAE
B R R 2 1 P AR5 A ZE
BHEERE  BRENLTEBH
EETIE: QBEEMHRT
E‘B#L‘A&E%&Lizi‘il%
FHEEBEARANEER &b
$%@EI%E%EE%3)5E’UE
ERESKRELEREPY
RN -

o EHERYK: RESEREE
KEBEEFOENEEMEST
gxm|) REERE (BFEE
KU ERERER) R
AEEWEBEARME -

REP WS KBRS EE L 2w
W—ERREAN AEEemRRaE
REERRY - 2 FERGREAYR
fRigelies - REFPEXRE - B
SEBRBEENTERAEEIRRE
WE—RE - AEEEBRAHKREE
R E UL o T RE REE B (0
B)HEHBMEE 16

AR (FE) ZRERAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments, which also represent the
Group’s reportable segments, are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM") of the Group, being the executive directors of the
Company, who are also the directors of the operating
subsidiary, for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The CODM regularly reviews revenue and results analysis by (i)
transportation service, (i) warehousing service, (iii) in-plant
logistics service; and (iv) customisation service.

7 ERE R
AEEWKLEDF (TFEIARKE R 28D
) IREBERERDERKRFEAAEH
TELERRE (RRRMITESRIELE
MBARMNES) ([ERLERKRE ) ER
MWEREE -

TRLERRERVEBRY : ()2 FER
5 (i B RARSS © M (v) ERIRTS E B
EHMs MEEDT o

AR G YN E i
T AKEE RS R 2H5 HE5 0
oz DA ©

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019512A318LFE

In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Total
ERRY BRRH BAWR RS ERRH E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ABRBTR ARBTR

Revenue Yeis

External sales HHMEE 96,607 40,334 72,013 796 209,750
Results #i

Segment results PEEE 21,752 3,910 14,247 309 40,218
Unallocated corporate income KB ZIMA 1,698
Unallocated corporate expenses RABRREER (25,960)
Profit before taxation PR AR F 15,956
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER )
Segment revenue and results (continued) D EBU RS N EELE ()
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZE2018FE 12831 BLLEE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
EaRi R ERE BRinmRE ERRE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Revenue o

External sales $oME 97,684 43014 69415 1,158 211,271
Results E3

Segment results nEEE 21994 6,802 13,460 535 42,791
Unallocated corporate income  RABLZIMA 689
Unallocated corporate expenses &7 E A %5 % (13.210)
Profit before taxation BR AR 30,270
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KESBHGETBUR BN I AER
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. VEETIRAR - DEEEES MR
Segment results represent profit earned from each segment BAEEA - B RSB ETAS - EW
without allocation of listing expenses, corporate income and ARGETHEZ -t RAAEBEZEER
certain expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM of REEWMUANERERETERBANGTER
the Group for the purpose of resource allocation and VA o

performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities NHEEREE

No analysis of segment assets or liabilities is presented as they HREZLERKERETHREEHHLE

are not regularly provided to the CODM. EdNHBEBENER  QMUEZIE@S
i e

AR (RE) ERARAT | 115
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019F 12431H I F/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (2
Other segment information H b 2R &k
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F12A318LFE
In-plant
Transportation  Warehousing logistics  Customisation Segment
service service service service Total Corporate  Consolidated
Enlk% EEEE  BANREE ERHRE bt 3 3 &

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABRFT  ARRTR  ARBTRT  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARRTR  ARRTR

Amounts included inthe meastre. HBEEHEHAHLE :

of segment results:
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - BRE R ERE
and equipment 702 1,223 2 - 1,948 128 2,076
Depreciation of right-of-usg assets  RABEENE 556 15,949 - - 16,505 661 17,166
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BRRRESE
plant and equipment = S = - - 6 6
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31BLLEE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics  Customisation Segment
service service service service Total Corporate Consolicated
EE e 2ERE  BAWRES TR P % aff
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

Amounts included inthe meastre  HPEEF EHANSE:

of segment results:
Depreciation of property, plant ~~ ¥1% - BERRERE

and equipment 669 1369 11 - 2049 904 2953
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BRERESE

plant and equipment - - - - - 7 7
Geographical information @ &t
The Group's revenue is mainly derived from operations in the AEEZEEFBRETEERY  A%H
PRC and the Group’s non-current assets are located in the PRC ZIRBEEREEMEMNPE -

by location of assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12831H 1 F/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the reporting period contributing

D ERE R ()

BHETERFMEM

IR A A AN 5 B I st B AR 3B 10% A9

over 10% of the Group's revenue are as follows: EPREDT
2019 2018
20195 2018 ¢
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARBTT
Customer A ZPEA 65,023 43,914
Customer B ZFB 58,355 54,301
Customer C BEC 55,714 76,269
179,092 174,484

Revenue from Customer A is solely generated from
transportation service segment. Revenue from Customers B
and C are generated from all of the transportation service,

KEEPANWREEL B BRREDE
KEEFBREFCHKEELAMEER
R~ BRERE - BAYIRRS & E SR

warehousing service, in-plant logistics service and FEDER -
customisation service segments.
7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES FrigBip X
2019 2018
20195 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Current tax charges: EHMIBERAS
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") R PSR ([ R EEPTEHE )
— current year — REE 7,020 8,033
Deferred tax credits (note 15): RIER B S (M2t 15) -
Current year NEE (385) -
6,635 8,033

IR (FE) ZRERDE

B NEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12H31H 1 F/E

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 7.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong
Kong. PRC EIT is calculated at 25% of the estimated assessable
profits for both years. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FrEBipx @)

HRARERALFELBEETENRRE
B MAKEYER B AT BERE - F
B 10 3 P 1S A IR W 18 67 /2 B b 5 FE AR B
M25%aTE - Efh BAREREENTIRR
THRE RLA R B AT M B R AT E -

FAMGHAXATEGABREREMEE
Wt R R B AT M SR T

2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Profit before taxation B BT T 15,956 30,270
Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 1= Bl EEFT1S T 25% B &
STEMTE 3,989 7,568

Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR B A RS2

for tax purposes 2,653 465
Effect of different tax rates of a subsidiary R E b alx# R & iER

operating in another jurisdiction B AR TR R 2 (7) -
Income tax expenses for the year FRAERMAX 6,635 8,033

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

8.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8. FWnF
2019 2018
20195 2018 ¢
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Profit for the year has been arrived F AR (GEA)
at after charging (crediting): THZIBEESE
Directors’ remuneration: EEHH
— Fees — 8 272 264
— Salaries and other allowances — e R H ARG 1,227 1,256
— Discretionary bonus — iEIEAL 1,496 -
— Retirement benefit scheme — RREFIF B
contributions 90 84
3,085 1,604
Other staff salaries and other allowances Efb{g 8 ¥& M E b2 85 58,362 56,207
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, & (KiEFIET2I4 2 -
excluding those of directors TOREEFEZRE 14,009 14,181
Total employee benefits expenses BEEEMF 2% 75,456 71,992
Fleet operating expenses BHREERY 5,128 6,072
Auditor’s remuneration Gl
— Audit services — ERRH 1,151 902
— Non Audit services (included in — IEEIERTE
professional fee relating to transfer (G AE R _EmHE
of listing) HEEH) 1,297 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE R
plant and equipment RiEEE 6 7
Bank interest income SRITRBULA (641) (409)
Interest income from rental deposits HekeFBHA (127) -
Government grants (Note) BUF R R (HaF) (589) (103)
Exchange gains PE 5 Was (414) (153)

Note: The government grants mainly represented the annual payment to the
Group for maintaining lower unemployment rate and the value-added tax
("VAT") credit granted under the new VAT policy effective 1 April 2019.
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the amount included grants for
early retirement of motor vehicles which did not comply with latest
environmental regulatory requirement with no unfulfilled conditions
attached before recognition.

Mt BURBGRIEE 2 AR REAE R MG TAKED
FEMK - ARIRER2019F4 518 ERNFH
EEB(MBER D RE TR TR ED N -
BE2018F12ANAILFE  SHEBERAEM
R B BT ER DA B R TR - R
R 1 B B ARG B AR

AR (FE) ZRERAF
ZE-NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12H31H 1 F/E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE - BRETBHRAEBREES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS <
(@) Directors’ and the chief executive's @@ EZKEZEITEA B
remuneration
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the FREETEBENNENARFES
directors and the chief executive of the Company by the kESITHRAEBNMESFBEET

group entities during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F12A318LEE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees  allowances honus contributions Total
it HEREMRR BT BHRTIHBHRR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of director EERA ARBTT ARRTT ARBTT ARRTR ARBTT
Executive directors: BiES:
Mr. Li X P E = 41 1,047 57 1,845
Mr. Li Jianming (Note ) RS (W) = 486 449 33 968

Independent non-executive  BuFHTES

directors:

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence DBt 106 = - - 106
Dr. WuKa Chee Davy BREBT 106 = - - 106
Mr. Shao Wei BEEAE 60 - - - 60

272 1,227 1,496 90 3,085
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12831H 1 F/E

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE BETHRAEBREES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) [0 cAC D,
(@) Directors’ and the chief executive's @ EZFK&EETHAEH M
remuneration (continued) (#)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31HILEE
Salaries Retirement
and other  benefit scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
RINEMFTE
we FHekAwEi R @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of director %] AREFT AREFT AREFT AREF T
Executive directors; WIEE:
Mr. Li JX R E - 760 42 802
Mr. Li Jianming (Note f) R (B - 496 42 538
Independent non-executive BUFRTES
directors:
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence BEREL 102 - - 102
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy HREBL 102 - - 102
Mr. Shao Wei BbEEE 60 - - 60
264 1,256 84 1,604
Notes: Bfat
(i) Mr. Li Jianming is the chief executive of the Group and his [0] AEEHSITHABERREALE - EXAEE
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered HMeBFEEEARSTTHRA BRERBE B
by him as the chief executive. Eal
(i) The executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their (ii) EXFITHITEEN S HREHEERERNRR K
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the AREBEBEBBREOME -
Company and the Group.
(iii) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown (iii) EXFIREN IERITESNE D REERERR
above were for their services as directors of the Company. RAIEENMS -
(iv) The executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus (iv) RABMITESERWERERENESERBETE

payments which are determined based on the performance of the
individual directors.

EYTEAL A 3K

R (FE) BRERAR
—B-nEER
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9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE BeETHRAEBREES
EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS (continued) [0 cAC ),
(a) Directors’ and the chief executive's @ EZEZFK&E=TTHA S B
remuneration (continued) (#)
Notes (Continued): Bzt () -
(v) The emoluments of the directors fell within the following bands: v) BEEOMENTUTEE
Number of directors
EEHH
2019 2018
20194 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 22 1,000,000 7T 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 % 7T =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 70 2 2,500,000 % 7T =
5 5

(b) Emoluments of senior management

Of the nine (2018: nine) senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019, five
(2018: five) of them are directors of the Company and
their remuneration has been disclosed in note 9(a). The
total emoluments of the remaining four (2018: four)
senior management are as follows:

/\

RAREHZE2019F12A3MHILEFE
BINA(2018F : hE)SREEA
B HRAHA(2018F : AH) A
RARESE  MESHFHERER
i3t 9@) o 2 T IO (2018 4F : TU4)
BREBAENMSEENT -

\

2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Salaries and other allowances e RHE A ER, 813 748

Retirement benefit scheme REFIET B
contributions 113 96
926 844

The emoluments of each of the senior management were
less than HK$1,000,000 for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

9.

10.

(©

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE BRETHAEBREE
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) [0 cAC D,
Five highest paid individuals € ARE=FMMAL
The five highest paid individuals of the Group, which are HE2019F 128318 ILFE A&
also senior management of the Company, include two BREZZeHMAL(FEREEAR
(2018: two) directors of the Company and three (2018: FefkEBABR)BEARTWA
three) senior management of the Group for the year (2018F : MAB)EERAEE =5
ended 31 December 2019. The emoluments of these (2018F : =Z )@ MEEAER ° %
three (2018: three) employees are as follows: Z%(Q018F : ZR)EREMBE W
™
2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBETF T
Salaries and other allowances e ME A ERL 685 667
Retirement benefit scheme RURAE R ET SR
contributions 113 96
798 763
The emoluments of each of the three employees above NE=FEEZSARMEFENHES
were in the band of nil to HK$1,000,000 for both years. B FZE % 1,000,000 7T
During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no HZE2019F K2018F 12 A3MA IEFE -
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of AEEGRERAARMEMNESHALEER
the Company or the chief executive of the Group or the five BITBA B Af &R WA T ZHEM
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon B - DARR S|4 In AR & B S &I AR
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None SEEFMRE S ERBBEE - B1E2019
of the directors of the Company or the chief executive of the FR2018F12A3MALEFE ARRE
Group waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 B AREE RS TEA B3 ERE (B
December 2019 and 2018. ks
DIVIDENDS 10. K&

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
both years, nor has any dividend been proposed since 31
December 2019 up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

AR BB W E AR R S S B R A ] AR
B H2019F 12 AN B EE H =2019
FI2ANBIEFEREVHRTENLEE
A IR IR RS o

EFIR (FE) ERERDH
—E-NEFFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12H31H 1 F/E

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. BREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to RRARHER AEGFEASRERNRFMOG
the owners of the Company for the year is based on the BREADERATEE :
following data:
2019 2018
20195 2018
Earnings 2%
Profit for the year attributable to the SEEREARERNAAR
owners of the Company for the WA ARIEERET
purpose of basic earnings per share (ANREEFTT)
(in RMB’000) 9,321 22,237
Number of shares EiHn®AE
Number of shares for the purpose of HEGREARER ARG EE
basic earnings per share (in thousands)  (F&) 800,000 800,000

No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year
ended 31 December 2019 or 2018 as there was no potential
ordinary share outstanding in either year.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture

Plant and and
machinery  equipment
BER#EH GHRRRE
RMB'000 RMB'000
N3 S N S

12. MI% - BERRE

office  Leasehold Motor
equipment improvement vehicles Total
BoRE HENERE RE #n

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTFR IN:L S AE®TT IN:L S

COST 7%

At 1 January 2018 R2018%1818 14,954 157 1,066 4528 4,525 24,830
Additions NE 233 - 50 1,712 94 2089
Disposals e (29 - (16) (106) (17 (322)
At 31 December 2018 H2018%12 8318 14,758 157 1,100 6,134 4,448 26,597
Additions HNE 26 3 76 13943 1,731 15,785
Disposals e - () (21) - (10 (127)
At 31 December 2019 B20196128318 14,784 155 1,195 20,077 6,084 42,255
DEPRECIATION &

At 1 January 2018 RA18E1A1H 11,038 127 629 3,309 2643 17,746
Provided for the year EMiti 1391 7 73 816 666 2953
Disposals e (28 - (14) - (162) (204)
At 31 December 2018 R218E12A318 12,401 134 688 4125 3147 20,495
Provided for the year Emiti 830 3 106 318 769 2076
Disposals e - (5) (19 - (95) (119)
At 31 December 2019 R019E12A318 13,281 132 775 4,443 3821 22,452
CARRYING VALUES e

At 31 December 2019 R019E 124318 1,503 2 380 15,634 2263 19,803
At 31 December 2018 R2018%5 128318 2357 2 412 2,009 1,301 6,102

AT (E) ERERAR
—T-NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERZE @)
(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are L% BERKEBEUERENE
depreciated on a straight-line basis as follows: R
Plant and machinery 20% per annum R B, BF20%
Furniture and equipment ~ 20% per annum ENSE: FF20%
Office equipment 20% per annum WA FF20%
Leasehold improvement Over the period of the relevant HEMEERE FHEEEH-
lease, or over 5 years, RN E
whichever is shorter (A& A%E)
Motor vehicles 20% per annum B BF20%
13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 13. EFREEE
Office
premises and
warehouses Forklifts Total
mamE
REE R=E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETE  AR®ETR  ARETR

As at 1 January 2019 20191818
Carrying amount REE 48,191 5,320 53,511

As at 31 December 2019  #2019%12831H

Carrying amount BRTEIE 68,204 3,827 72,031
For the year ended #E2019F12A3181L

31 December 2019 £E
Depreciation charge WERX 14,831 2,285 17,166

Expense relating to short-term %8 EAFAE R AR EN & X
lease and other leases with JERE B HRE AR

lease terms end within 12 F 1658 ERT 1218 A A

months of the date of initial JiE o ) L 7 & ) 4B

application of HKFRS 16 F 1,311
Total cash outflow for leases ~ FAERIR & R &5 19,708
Additions to right-of-use assets KB fF AEEE 35,686
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

13.

14.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases various office premises,
warehouses and forklifts for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of one year to nine years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.
As at 31 December 2019, none of the Group's leases contain
any extension nor termination option.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters. As at 31 December 2019, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

As at 31 December 2019, the lease agreements entered into by
the Group do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
pUrposes.

RENTAL DEPOSITS

The balances represent rental deposits placed by the Group in
connection with its rented premises. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group has the intention to continue
to lease the respective premises upon expiry of the lease
terms. Therefore, the balances are classified as non-current.

Rental deposits paid were adjusted upon the initial application
of HKFRS 16. Details of the adjustments are set out in note 2.

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an amount of
RMB143,000 (undiscounted) (2018: RMB143,000) as at 31
December 2019 paid to Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming and their
three brothers as the rental deposit for the office premise
owned by them and is used by the Group.

13.

14.

EREEE#)

NRAEE  AEERLLERESTH
AYE ABERXE - MEANE—F%
NEMETHRETY - HE EZIR AR
BRER - AT T RIER R G - 7

EEAEKHE T AR SRR
REEEREGANTESE  WEETSLHR
FIEITHOHAR - A2019412 A31H » A&
ERAEM TR A AR R IR ERE -

$$.IEH}:‘1?>}E,§\IE%HT_L%—L%@$H ° ‘
2019F 12 A31H » MEHEEMASHE XX
WREOHHERYNEREEHEEEM -

R2019F12A3MH AEBFTYHHEE
EI A EREEM 22 - EEBEAFES
HEAEMNEMEZRRIN  HEEETT
FREEZ AR KR -

HEeEre
EHETEEEERENEFHOB LR
¢ AARNEFRA  ARBEREERNTE
HERRAEANNE - Bt ZABR
BRIRD -

ENEERERERERTEMBREE
A 16 5RRTE - AEFBHNME2 -

R2019F12A31H - AEEBAESEEH
BE—ERARENELE - BEASLAERE
=R B E A AR 143,000 7T (K
#rI) (20184 :+ ARM143,0007T) * 1EA
AEBFERABEMHREBNRAVENTHES
e o

AR (FE) ZRERAF
ZE-NFFR
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15.

B MR M T e

For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 15. IREBRIBEEE
2019 2018
2019 % 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREET T
Deferred tax assets RIER B & B 385 -

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)

UNTRAFERBEFEERNERRL

recognised and movements thereon during the current and MEEEEE) RAE
prior years:
Right-of-use Lease Rental
assets liabilities deposits Total
EHEEE HEAR Heke #at
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFTT ARBTT ARBFT
At 1 January and W2018F1 A1 H R
31 December 2018 12H31H - - - -
Charge (credit) to profit Nk GTA) ERBa
or loss for the year 18,009 (18,251) (143) (385)
At 31 December 2019 2019F 12 A31H 18,009 (18,251) (143) (385)
As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of temporary R2019F 1283108 MAERELERIE

differences associated with the undistributed earnings of a
subsidiary established in the PRC for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised was RMB80,898,000 (2018:
RMB46,971,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised
in respect of these differences because the Group is in a
position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

There is no other significant unrecognised deferred taxation for
both years.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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80,898,000 7T (2018 4F : /\ E ﬁémé 971,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

16. EZ R EMEBWRIENAR AN

IE
2019 2018
20195 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Trade receivables from contracts with REZEANMNE S5 EWKZIE

customers, gross and net WEENFE 65,018 77,796
Prepayments and other receivables FE AN FRIR Ko H b W R IA 3,849 3,696
68,867 81,492

As at 1 January 2018, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB64,975,000.

For long-term customers with good credit quality and payment
history, the Group allows credit period of no longer than 120
days. For other customers, the Group demands for full
settlement upon issuance of invoice after the provision of
services.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice dates at the end of the
reporting period.

M2018F1A1H  RERFEHNESE
W oE A A R 64,975,000 7T ©

HREABRFEEEZEINREENED
BEP  AKERTTNEBI120ANEER -
HREMEP » NREBERKREHRRBR
B 3 RES R BT o

T ARESRRFEN REHRIRERA
HI2 5 2 BREC AT -

2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Within 30 days 30HA 25,697 31,753
31 to 60 days 31E60H 17,351 18,883
61 to 90 days 612 90H 15,420 17,997
Over 90 days Q0 HEA I 6,550 9,163

65,018 77,796

R (FE) BRERAR
B NEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12H31H 1 F/E

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 16. B 5 Kk Hfl fE W R IE A R 8 4+

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB7,621,000 (2018: RMB16,199,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. No trade receivables balance
has been past due 90 days or more, and no amount is
considered as in default based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience and taking into consideration of forward-
looking information. Accordingly, the management of the
Group considers that allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables is insignificant as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables that are denominated in foreign currency,

FIE (#)

R2019F 128318 AEEE 5 K
BREGTEERTGERSARE7,621,000
TL(20184F + A R #16,199,0007T ) 2 f& IR
B ZERZRFEAHE RN - s
B S RWGIEAHRBE @A Bk L - IF
ESBERAEENBEIEEBBLERKE
KERBAEEEMERBER - Bt -
AEEEEERREFERAEBENEEES
BEER2019F R2018F 12 A31 B I~
BER - AKETERZSEB/IBTETWE
e

LASINEE (1RRASE @ﬂ@mﬁaﬁmwrz )

currency other than the functional currency of relevant group FHERE 5 I
entity:
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
United States Dollars (“USD") E([Ex]) 17,109 12,324

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 27.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12831H 1 F/E

17.

18.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at variable rates which range from

17. RITEBREERES

R2019F12 A31 8 » SRITEHIZN T 0.3%

0.3% t0 0.35% per annum as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 0.3% % 0.35% 1) B) F 7 K512 (2018 F = G )
t0 0.35% per annum). #&0.3% £0.35%) °
The amounts of the Group’s bank balances and cash NEBUARBEETRENEEEUIINE
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies BHHENRITAREKIBSNSEHI AT
of the relevant group entities are set out below:
2019 2018
20195 2018 £F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Hong Kong dollars (“"HKD") B (AT 149 6,428
usD eV 29,786 8,285

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out
in note 27.

RITHE

RRE R LR B R MR 27

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 18. ES RHMBEFRIEUR B
ACCRUED EXPENSES 53

2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT
Trade payables B S e RIE 15,311 21,657
Accrued employee benefits TR EEF 8,237 6,745
Other payables and accrued expenses Hib N ERIE R E R 6,992 3,716
30,540 32,118

The credit period of trade payables is ranging from 30 to 90
days.

S RNFTENEERNF0E0AR -

IR (FE) ZRERDE

B NEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 H IEF/Z

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 18. EZ R HEMEMNREURET
ACCRUED EXPENSES (continued) B ()

THIAE BN KEN RS BREEER

H25] 2 B AT -

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

132

2019 2018

20195 2018 F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARETT

Within 30 days 30HA 7,376 11,678
31 to 60 days 31E60H 4,383 4,994
6110 90 days 61E90H 3,495 4,962
Over 90 days 90 HIA E 57 23
15,311 21,657

Trade payables that are denominated in currencies other than

MR B ER R AR A

the functional currency of relevant group entity: HE 5 e IR
2019 2018
20194 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFIT
usD ED 8,734 5,256

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

out in note 27.

27

19. LEASE LIABILITIES 19. HEEE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Lease liabilities payable as at #2019 12A3MAMEFFESAR :
31 December 2019:
Within one year —5R 15,318
Within a period of more than one year HBA—FEEARMFHHRANRN
but not more than two years 15,558
Within a period of more than two years R T ETRBRFTERA
but not more than five years 29,708
Within a period of more than five years BB AFH AR A 12,421
73,005
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months & : mEH&E FTER 12EA N2 HsE
shown under current liabilities Epfea ] (15,318)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months EREEE TR 128 A% 5 H
shown under non-current liabilities HEENEE 57,687
Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set HEABENHEERBRBERATFBEENM

EFIR (FE) ERERDH

— T NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F 1231 H IEF/Z

20. SHARE CAPITAL 20. &
Number of Share
shares capital
K8 H 112 3
HKS
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEC.01 BT E B
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 HR2018F 1818 ~ 2018 F &
and 2019 201912 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid BERTRERE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 R2018F1 818 ~ 2018 F K
and 2019 2019412 A31H 800,000,000 8,000,000
2019 2018
2019 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AEBTT
Shown in the consolidated statement of ~ R4r& B4R R & 271
financial position 6,761 6,761

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the shares of the Company were successfully listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017, the Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 26 September 2017 which became
effective and unconditional upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

The Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following
the transfer of listing of the shares of the Company from GEM
to Main Board of the Stock Exchange and in full compliance
with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules. The
listing of the shares of the Company to be issued under the
Share Option Scheme have been transferred to the Main Board
on 19 December 2019 pursuant to the rule of the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to the eligible persons as rewards or
incentives for their contribution to the Group. The Group may,
at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the eligible persons
to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise
price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares of
the Company, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue
at the time dealings in the shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange and there was no change in the total number of
shares of the Company available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued share capital
that it represented as at the date of this report.

21.

BRETE
A2 7 B9 7R 2017 10 B 18 B 7E B 2
FrGEM X Ih LAl - R Q AR 201769 A
26 B B G B A B AR A 5T 20 ([ B8 AR ik &1
) ERARBROEMR T LWL
BRI

RAR Rt B GEME EBE X P E1R £
% BREFIDAFEREER  X2E|
A LTRAMMERRE - REBEEBRE
B T EITHARABMERN2019F12 A
1VAREBEETRURENRUBEERE
A7 o

BREAINENRSAEERNSGERA
ITROBEE  UMERHEBAKERLTE
B0 R E SRR - ARE A 2EBITRT
EEMBEEENEMIERAEEBRA
TRERERE  ARBARRERD - BT
1;*;$E'<TJ§E\%HQ%E+§|J&K’Aﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁr%ﬂ
B HE)PTA BB AR T AT RE BT AR R A
T’VE%ZI:/\T?%EﬂEEOOOOOOOHXE’JZK
Aty EARBIARAGBEERD %
TR B2 10% + T AR IR BB A A At 81 7]
HETOHRRAROABEERARE R
HMENE B TRANB DL |EH -

AR (FE) ZRERAF
ZE-NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

21.

22.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each participant under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a
10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
board of directors of the Company.

The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to
Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board
and notified to each participant and shall be the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the share options, which must be a trading day of the Stock
Exchange; (i) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days of the Stock Exchange
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

No share option has been granted, exercised, expired,
cancelled or lapsed pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

OPERATING LEASES

Details of operating leases payments during the year ended 31
December 2018 in respect of rented premises and forklifts are
as follows:

21.

22.

B8 e

&2 REMEM 1218 A HRERTERER
AR R AN 2 B3 AT AT B 2 1 0 (LA L
Ho st B 9% X S I 2 RE AR AE (B 4B B 1T
5 - ELRREK R M R AT O B AR AR ) BT 341 T
RISERT AARRPBETERAD
BTIRID 2 1% o FEARHEST 211§ 10 I
BREN - RIFBRETE  SHBRE
MITEHAI0E  BRIAARESES
SRIE ©

B 8PS R AR B R ITEE
RHEZSBETIANEZ2EENER -
BARTHEENESE  (RE LB
HER(ZADARBIANRZS BB
P R RERMIIOAR TR YEHE (i)
REERHBREZERNAEBIARS
BB 3P B ME R A R R F
BT E - R AR B ROEE -

HE2019F K2018F 12 A31H IEFE
WEERERIR BT BB - 171
FIHE - RESEERRR

KREHE
HZE2018F12A3MHILFE - E@HEE
MERRENEERENHFHBEQT -

2018
20184
RMB'000

ARETT

Rented premises
Forklifts

HEWE
X

18,568
3,339

21,907

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

22. OPERATING LEASES (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of rented premises and forklifts
which fall due as follows:

22.

KEHE 2
M2018E12A31E  AEERESHEMA

EMERNENTABHEEHERNRR
REREMNFAENZHBEMNT

2018
2018 4
RMB’000
ARBEFT

Rented premises HEME
Within one year —F R 14,757
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_FEERF(RIEEEMF) 44,426
59,183

Forklifts X &

Within one year —F R 2,760
In the second to fifth year inclusive FFEFAT (BEEEMT) 5,423
8,183
67,366

Leases are negotiated for the period of one to nine years, of
which the Group shall be entitled to terminate one of the
tenancy agreements which has a remaining lease term of eight
years by giving two months’ notice to the landlord. The group
has option to renew the leases for all rented premises.

HELHERRRY—E2NF  AEE/#E
BBRETELREABMLI AR A
HEBARSN\FNHEHERZ -  AEEEEZ
BEMBHEEMENHEE -

R (FE) BRERAR
B NEEH
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23. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 23. EXEIE
2019 2018
20194 2018 4F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Capital expenditure contracted for but TUEEME - BE RE&E

not provided in the consolidated EETAE B ARG B Sk

financial statements in respect of BHENERRX

acquisition of property, plant and

equipment 7,193 14,842

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 24. RARBHGEHE

The obligation of the Group with respect to the state-managed AEEEEBRREEENREHNFAENET
retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified RIELHBEHRR RAFERBEFE -
contributions. During both current and prior years, the total REBE MG EEL Rt AEEMHFRE
amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and BASEIZTERAFTREN L RE R, R
charged to the profit or loss represent contributions paid/ MEr SIS AR - REEEZE2019F 12
payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the A3 HIEFEERRNRKEAFEIHIA
rules of the schemes. The retirement benefit scheme A R %#14,099,0007T(20184F : A R #
contributions made by the Group amounted to RMB14,099,000 14,265,0007T) °

(2018: RMB14,265,000) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

138 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@)

25. EABGTIRE

Related party balances (@) FAHE S ek
Details of the outstanding balance with related parties of HIZR£R | B B 7 ) 1 AR (B R AR BR AT IR
the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of R GRE MR R R HtEE14 o
financial position and in note 14.
Particulars of an amount due from a related party in the RBEFERK— B @Y 5 ENFE
prior year is as follows: BT :
Maximum balance
outstanding during the year
FRREHRHEERS
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 2018 20194 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREBTFT AR®BTT AREET T
Mr. Li JX RRGEFT S A = - = 1,726
The full amount has been settled during the year ended EHESEDREBZE2018F12A31R°
31 December 2018. IFFEREEE -
Related party transactions by EEEt AR S
2019 2018
20195 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
Rental expense for the office it FRRfEFT A~ BREERR A
premise paid to Mr. Li JX, RS E - BREERE
Mr. Li Jianming, Mr. Li Jianrong, & SED @l R0k YN YES
Mr. Li Jianhua and Mr. Li Jianwen HeMx 671 674
Purchase of consumer goods for AEERRREI R TS 40%
own use by the Group from BENEEENE RN
Guangzhou Handpicked Wine Co. ARAGEBERERE A
Ltd., an entity owned as to 40% by
Mr. Li JX 595 -

Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and Mr. Li Jianwen are
brothers of Mr. Li JX and Mr. Li Jianming. The rental
expense is paid for the office premise used by the Group
in Guangzhou, the PRC. As at 31 December 2018, the
operating lease commitments for the relevant office
premise has been included in note 22 and amounted to
RMB506,000.

IR E - REELAE KRR
EARENTAERREBILENT
oA NAREEMAMNE
B M B I A W E ST e 722018
F12A31H BRERAMENKE
AEAREEHNHE2  BARE
506,000 7T ©

R (FE) BRERAR
B NEEH
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) Related party transactions (continued)

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised lease
liabilities of RMB497,000 and right-of-use assets of
RMB502,000 upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 in respect of
the said premise. Lease payment during the year as set
out above has been made by the Group. During the year,
the relevant lease has been renewed for a term of three
years. As at 31 December 2019, the corresponding
carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets are RMB1,726,000 and RMB1,741,000 respectively.

The rental deposit paid to the landlords at the end of the
reporting period is set out in note 14.

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Company

25.

L INE 2

(b)

BAEsE T 2 5 (4)
201981 A18 » Rt Bl &
MBEEMBREERE1657E - K
SEEREEAEARE497,0007T
RAE AR EARE502,0007T ° £
MFTEFE R EN KB AR EEEL o
FR - EBHEEDER=F - %2019
F12R318 HEABERFEREE
ENHEEEESIAARE
1,726,000 7T & A R # 1,741,000 7T ©

RREFREOEETIANHES RS
A FE14 -

ARRREBEEABH

2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TT ARETT

Fees we 272 264
Salaries and other allowances e ME bR 2,040 2,004
Discretionary bonus BB TE4L 1,496 -
Retirement benefit scheme RURIB N ET SR

contributions 203 180
Total BET 4,011 2,448

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and
other key management personnel of the Company are
determined having regard to the performance of the
individuals.

140 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

26.

27.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy for the current
year remains unchanged compared with previous years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, various reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
and the risks associated with each class of the capital. Based
on the recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

26. EXREREE

AEEERREER  BREBBLEKE

SR 2 T8 - AR B TS
FES 28 B IR AR B9 - A B A 4R
B R BB L LT

AEENEARRBHARREA ABIGE
m(BREHTRA - SERERKRERHN)
#ARK

RAREETERBAERRE - ERZR
AH—HD EFEEEBRERNMBEEK
AREE EREENEBER  A%H
BB BAIRE ~ HRRMD BT RENED
AR BETHEBRBRIBEEEHN T RAF
BTHRBEARE -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. €M TH
(@) Categories of financial instruments (@ =R EMER
2019 2018
2019 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®TRT ARBTT
Financial assets TREE
At amortised cost TR S AT AR 138,152 143,484
Financial liabilities SREE
Amortised cost B SR AN 18,168 24,148

R (FE) BRERAR
B NEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade

and other receivables, bank balances and cash and trade
and other payables.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk
() Currency risk

A subsidiary of the Group has foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group's currency risk is mainly attributable to
the exposure outstanding on bank balances, trade
receivables and trade and other payables
denominated in HKD and USD. The carrying
amounts at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:

27. T@MI A %)

b) TREREEBRERIREEK

(#)

miSmR (E)

() EEEE(E)
AEENERERAREZERAR

KB TRETAENRITE
7 BHRWFBEBUNE SR
Hip B RIENREERR
REBREMRAOFEENT ¢

Assets Liabilities
HE af&

2019 2018 2019 2018

20195 2018 & 20195 2018

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AREFTT AR®TT ARBEFT

HKD BT 149 6,428 - -

usD eV 46,895 20,609 8,734 5,256

Sensitivity analysis RS AT

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to TREFMARE N AREINEF
a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against the 1B [ B2 B 5% W 7N £ [ 8 Bk
relevant foreign currencies. 5% represents € o 5% IEE IR EIMNEIE R A
management’s assessment of the reasonably B E B MR - BMRE D

possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
negative number below indicates a decrease in
post-tax profit for the reporting period where RMB
strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign
currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

MEBRREEINETESER
T8 B 35 S B R 3 5% 59 S
KEREEHHAEMRE - LT A
BRTMARE LB BINETT
1B5% @ NS MR AR B &R
MR o AR H B BINE
f2{85%  HEHBRBRENE
FRHARMNTE -

EFIR (FE) ERERDH
—E-NEFFER
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

27. €@ T B ®)
tREAREEAZIBER

(b)

(#&)

S mER ()

(i)

BxmLE (E)
BREDWT (B)

Post-tax profit

BR& BT
2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFTT
HKD T (6) (247)
usD ETT (1,431) (576)
Interest rate risk (i) FEERE

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to lease liabilities (see note 19 for
details). The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to its bank balances in
the PRC and Hong Kong (see note 17 for details).
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
bank balances. The Group manages its interest rate
exposures by assessing the potential impact arising
from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook. The Group did not
use any interest rate swap to hedge its interest rate
risk during both years.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under the ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on
each individually significant trade balances and
collectively for others using provision matrix by grouping
of trade debtors that have similar historical loss patterns
as reflected in the debtors’ aging profiles, grouped by
debtor balances that are not yet due and different aging
brackets of numbers of days past due. The provision
rates applied in the assessments of the individually
significant trade receivables and in the provision matrix is
estimated using the historical observed default rates of
the debtors taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonably and supportably available
without undue costs or effort. At the end of each
reporting period, these historical loss rates are
reassessed and updated if required after considering the
forward-looking information then available to the
directors of the Company. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is also limited because
the counterparties are banks with good reputations.

27. €MiT R

(b)

TEERERE B R RER
(#)

AR Rk
AEEREHNRSEERRIGEH
AEBRYF T REBITREMES
S - AR TR AN AR ER
ARBRRERRIIN B ECERE R
& AR -

AEENEERREIZREESER

FIE - hEEREEERR - A5E
Efil’ﬁ?ﬁ’l\%ﬁ%f?ﬂmﬁg
B EEHEREMEERF - IR
IRERERBR i 7T B) UL 21380 BR (R 75 - 1t
Gh - REERERE ISR 2R
FEORBIRIBTEMEEBBEXNES
EREARE S ERETTRERT S - I
FEiREmEEEEN (RIEREEA
BRI SR B 5 FE W BR 5k 5 48
B ABEBEREEME S EaET
SRRETE - BRE AT EE
W BR R 4 4 B e BA R 0 T R BR e 4
RETTHLE - ERIEKRE 5 EUREIE
ST DA R B S AR P R P R B A R AR
BARBEBRER R - EPLL
EEBENEKAKBEmAIRA 5
BESMRIEEER - REREIK -
KERARRIZERE RS ATHE
MERE  ZEREBEXREE
NEFTERER - BHmE - A2
AEERANEENEERRE AR
FEAR o

BHREF I RARGFBENRIT - &
RITEHNEERBRTAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The credit risk on other receivables is limited because of
the nature of these balances, credit quality of the
counterparties and the historical settlement record.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has concentration of
credit risk in trade receivables as 45% (2018: 35%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer. The Group's concentration of credit risk on the
top five largest customers accounted for 95% (2018: 94%)
of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2019.
The management of the Group considers the credit risk
of amounts due from these customers is insignificant
after considering historical settlement records and
forward-looking information.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the

27. €@ B

(b)

TREMBEIREBRRE
(#)

EERRRBETE ()
HRZEEHONE HFHFNEE
BEMBEZETE:  MEMRKEK
BN EERBRER -

R2019F12 A31H  AEBEES
BRFBEEETRRR  EEFHER
FRIELAFER) 45% (2018 4F : 35%) A
WAREEZAREFPHRIE - AEERA
AEPWEEEHRRBRMEN20194F
VZANEWE ZEWRRIBEEL
95%(2018¢ 1 94%) o AEBEEE

RE NERIBAGLE L AE
Iétéwé ERZEEPRIENEE
R IREAX o

TRALKNEEBFEBEEBEN

Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL HHEMEENEERRMO
assessment:
2019 2018
20195 01845
External Internal 12m Gross Gross
credit credit or lifetime carrying carrying
rating rating ECL amount amount
12@ABHEL
SEEETR REEETR REGEEER Fa#E RREE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
izt IN:3 S ARBTT
Financial assets at
amortised cost
BHARTHEN
SMEE
Trade receivables 16 N/A Note | Lifetime ECL 65,018 77,79
B ARG TER (hEd FEAEDEREEE
QOther receivables 16 N/A Note i 12m ECL 1,715 1,404
Hit R TER ] REREHEERR
Bank balances 17 Prime-1 N/A 12mECL 71,387 64,256
RITER Prime-15F4% TER REAESEERE

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses for
individually significant trade debtor and collectively for others
using a provision matrix. During the year ended 31 December
2019 and 2018, the Group considers that allowance for credit
losses of trade receivables is insignificant.

(i) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at 12m ECL as there is no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. The Group determines the expected
credit losses for other receivables by assessment of probability of
default. During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, in
view of the nature of the balance and historical default rate, the
Group considers the provision of impairment allowance for other
receivables is insignificant.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains levels of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to

pay.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest rates are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

27. T@MI A %)

(b)

TRUEREE B ENRBR
(#)

EERBRBERE(E)
HiaE -

(i) HRESRYHEMNS  AEECEAE
B BREERE IR EEANRTE
HERREREERFIEBERE - ~5H
BEEMNEARESREERNEREE
BB UERREEREAREEEME

SEBANBEREERR - BE20194F
N2018F12ANBIEFE - KNEER
RESERUFANGEEBBRRFBL T E
* o

(i) HRAHEERREEMS  ~A5EERE
REBMBEREEAEIR —RENR
R2EABEREEFREFEBEERE T
M B B )4 B A SR B KR
B AREEBFEERAELEE
HipEWHENTEREEEE - B#E

20194 K% 2018F 12 A3 A L F & - &

RNEZSFEHOEERBEERE  AE

B3R A H AL B R IR BB B E R RUE

TEK-

RBESER

EEBRBDECRARE  AEESE

LmRe MRS SEYREERE
a%iuﬁﬁﬁﬁlA$ SRS
ME KRB EHKE -

TRAJAEEIFTESRABOF
HANHR - RBCIRAEEET N
FHNEFAHNERABRARES

MEBIE -

EREEFERALRLRE - (47
RATE - KRS Ee RS R
FIREEGH, -
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ZE-NFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 2201912431 H1EF/Z

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables
As at 31 December 2019

27. €@ B

(b)

TR EREE B ZENMBR
(&)

RBESEE(F)
®2019%12A31H

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective or less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 Over5  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1 month months to 1year years years cash flows 2019
20195
miEEy HELRE FiRRE 128318
ERiE BOR1EA 1E3(R 3fARE1E 185§ SENL bt 1] HREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABRTE  ABWTL  ABWFR  ARMTR  ABWR  ARRTR  ABWTR
Non-derivative financial 3% &B& R
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ EZREMER A - 10,233 13818 57 - - 18,168 18,168
Lease liabilties MEek 516 1599 478 12,300 51,917 13,002 83,602 73,005
11,832 12,662 12,357 51,917 13,002 101,770 91173
As at 31 December 2018 #2018 12A31H
Weighted ~ Repayable on Carrying
average demand or Total amount at
effective less than 1-3 3months  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1 month months to 1year cash flows 2018
R018E
METH REXER ANMBRE 128318
EERIE SOREA 1£3f@A EAEIE MELH MIREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFT ARETT ARETTL AREFT ANRETT
Non-derivative financial 3fi4 &R &
liabilities
Trade and other payables B ZREfERZE - 14,169 9,956 23 24,148 24,148
Fair value © »~¥E

The management considers that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the end of the reporting period
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 22019412431 H 1L F/Z

28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 28. EFEIELENEEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFANAGSEERETHEENARY
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B pRERERIFRcETH  gREED
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those EEMBEBRSREERNIRKRER
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, ERRAEENGEHERERASER
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows BMETHEERESRENEE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for HEZ2018F K2019F 12 A3MH IEFEH
the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019: BMEFBHEENEELHE
Total
liabilities
Amount from
due to a Lease financing
related party liabilities activities
Eft—&H MEEBEE
BtA IR HEAR HHAR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBETT ARBET T

At 1 January 2018 M2018F1HA1H 646 - 646
Financing cash flows BMERSME (646) - (646)
At 31 December 2018 MK2018F 12 A31H - - -
Adjustment upon application R ERE B ERE LR

of HKFRS 16 (note 2) FE 165 B AL (Fx2) - 53,085 53,085
As at 1 January 2019 (restated) 7201941818 (&K E71)) - 53,085 53,085
Financing cash flows BB RS - (18,397) (18,397)
Non-cash changes: JEIE 2 8 -
New leases entered R LHEE - 35,403 35,403
Interest expense on lease HEBEFNERXZ

liabilities - 2,914 2,914
At 31 December 2019 #2019 12 A31H - 73,005 73,005

f@FH (FE) BRERAT | 149
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12H31H 1 F/E

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29. & QRH BN TR K #HE

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2019 2018
20195 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSET IERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries REBRATMIRE 53,509 53,509
CURRENT ASSETS MEVEE
Other receivables H b W sk I8 240 103
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHR MRS 124 122
364 225
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Other payables and accrued expenses Hi e E&rpﬁrﬁ,ﬁﬁ 4,679 88
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHTB AR 11,923 5,999
16,602 6,087
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAEFE (16,238) (5,862)
NET ASSETS BEFE 37,271 47,647
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARNGERE
Share capital A% 6,761 6,761
Reserves s 30,510 40,886
TOTAL EQUITY R 37,271 47,647

The Company has applied HKFRS 16 since 1 January 2019 in
accordance with transitional provision stated in note 2. The
application of HKFRS 16 in the current year has had no material
impact on the Company's financial performance and positions
for the current and prior years.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29. XARMNM BRI TR F#EE 2
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The following are the movements of the Company’s reserves LA B8 22018 4F & 2019F 12 A31H 1k
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019: FEARRBNFEESD
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BB RR H it 6 41 ] #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1H 37,763 20,095 (15,044) 42,814
Loss and total comprehensive £RERE R 2 ERX

expense for the year Pk - - (1,928) (1,928)
At 31 December 2018 R20184F 12 A31H 37,763 20,095 (16,972) 40,886
Loss and total comprehensive £REERZEARY

expense for the year iz - - (10,376) (10,376)
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31H 37,763 20,095 (27,348) 30,510

IR (FE) ERERAT | 151
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019F 12431H I F/E

30. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 30. B A RS
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December AR AH B A 7R 2018 4F K 2019412 A
2018 and 2019 are as follows: 3NHHFBET
Issued and Equity interest
Place and date of fully paid attributable to
incorporation/ Place of share capital/ the Company as at
Name of subsidiary establishment operation registered capital 31 December Principal activities  Form of company
e/ ERITRER MM2A31A
RELRER BIMERAH EEHE b/ EmEs FOFMEkRE IEEE ARRR
2019 2018
2019% 185

Directly held by the Company:

FRABERE
Goal Rise Logistics Investments BV Hong Kong Us$100 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability
Limited 28 November 2016
EAIRREERAA ABRAEE B 0% REZR ERAF
WMI6E1A28H
Goal Rise Logistics (Overseas) BVI Hong Kong US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabilty
Investments Limited 1 August 2018
st (8N REARAA ABRAER B 10057 REZR ERAF
N18E8A1A
Indirectly held by the Company:
FRAGERE
Guangzhou World-Link (Ching) The PRC The PRC RMB35,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of Limited liabilty
Co. Lid. 27 November 1996 (2018: transportation,
RMB45,000,000) Wwarehousing,
in-plant logistics and
customisation
Services
BMhBET (8 ARAT hE hE AR 35000000 ftEn 2% ERAF
199%E 117278 (2018 - BAaRRE2RH
AR 45,0000007L)

152 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019F12831H 1 F/E

30. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. B ARFE )
Issued and Equity interest
Place and date of fully paid attributable to
incorporation/ Place of share capital/ the Company as at
Name of subsidiary establishment operation registered capital 31 December Principal activities  Form of company
e/ BERTRER MM2B31R
WELE%HE MR AH R ks /ifEs EOTEERE IERH AERS
2019 2018
2019% N18E
Indirectly held by the Company (Continued):
ARTEERE(E):
Goal Rise Logistics (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabilty
2 December 2016
i (F8) BRAA Bk Bk 1% REER ERAT
016F 12428
Goal Rise Logistics (Global) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabilty
7 August 2018
EAIR O BRAT Bk & 00T REER ERAT
18E8A7H
Goal Rise Logistics (International) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabilty
Limited 7 August 2018
EAR (R BRAT B B 100371 RERRK BRAF
N18E8AT7A
Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Egypt Egypt EGP50,000 100% 100%  Provision of Limited liabilty
Limited 220ctober 2018 transportation
services
AR AR BRAT %R %R 500005 R ReERRE BRAA
N18E10A 28

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the

end of the reporting period or at any time during both years.

BENMB AR DR RE MR EFER

ERREETEREBES -

IR (FE) ZRERDE
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31. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of a respiratory virus caused by Novel
Coronavirus, or known as the COVID-19, in the PRC, has
affected the Group’s various businesses to different extents.
Since its outbreak in January 2020, the directors of the
Company have closely monitored its developments and kept
regular communications with the Group’s customers,
subcontractors, and other parties concerned to understand
whether there would be any significant impacts on the Group'’s
businesses. The Group has suffered from some operational
delays for its transportation and warehousing services due to
the travel restrictions and home quarantine requirements
implemented by the PRC Government. In addition, coupled
with the Chinese New Year Holidays and the government
measures requiring temporary closure of customers’
manufacturing plants, the Group’s in-plant logistics and
customisation services had experienced a delay in service
resumption ranging from few days to few weeks in February
2020.

Based on the currently available information, the directors of
the Company considered that the Group's operations have not
been materially and adversely affected by the coronavirus
outbreak. They also concluded that the chance of the Group's
operations being severely affected in the short-term is mild.
However, given the inherent unpredictable nature and rapid
development relating to the COVID-19 outbreak, depending on
its degree of impact on the overall economy, the Group’s
business might be affected. The directors of the Company will
continue to closely monitor the situation.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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1. BEHRER

BT AL E KA 5 (318 & COVID-19) 5| #E &9
WRERSNTREBRECHASENET
EBERTREENTE - B HR 20204
1ABELUR  ARRESOEREREE
B WEAEBERS - 580 &HAmEH
BEHRETHEE  NTHREECHAE
ENEBEEFTMNEATE - ARPEK
REBLITRERREREE R NEE
WEBRAERRECE—ERELERE
BIEGR o WA - IR R R B R HA R
FERE RS S EEREMER - A
B 202042 A 89 A 907k B E B AR 7S
B AR IS B BN T HR 2 HUE 2
T e

RBEREMSER ARAEERBLE
EnEEREATRASHERMIZIEKR
TRIFE - HENBLE  FEENEER
HAZHEAZENHSEMN - AW - &
M COVID-19/E BRI E A A a] FERI 1 E
RARKBEREY AEEMEBITET
B (RTEECEIVENEENE)
RARERBBEZYVEREHIER -



Financial Summary
B2

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements or the

Prospectus of the Company is set out below:

ERARBERNEEREMBFENREAREER
BERE(REAARAC ENRERGAM
BREXARFBRER)&KIIWT

RESULTS 4
For the year ended 31 December
H#EZ12A31H81LLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 2016 5 2017 & 2018 FF 20195
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEFT AR®TT AREFTT ARETT AR%TR
Revenue Wz 150,277 153,975 192,075 211,271 209,750
Profit before taxation M AR T 18,519 19,885 13,280 30,270 15,956
Income tax expenses FrSFiR X (5,224) (5,778) (6,342) (8,033) (6,635)
Profit for the year F @A 13,295 14,107 6,938 22,237 9,321
Attributable to: AT & 77 A
— owners of the Company — A&RAE#HEB A 5,886 5,697 6,938 22,237 9,321
— non-controlling interests — JEiEA& ks 7,409 8,410 - - -
13,295 14,107 6,938 22,237 9,321

IR (FE) ZRERDE

B NEEH
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Financial Summary contnues)
B T

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

BE  BERFERERS

As at 31 December

®12A31H

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

20154 2016 F 2017 & 2018 F 20195

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBFT ARBTRE

Total assets BEE 65,978 84,499 125,523 155,204 235,602

Total liabilities HmarE (44,478) (61,451) (30,918) (38,362)  (109,439)

Net assets BETE 21,500 23,048 94,605 116,842 126,163

Non-controlling interests  JE{efRfEzs (6,882) - - - =
Equity attributable tothe ~ &AFHEA A

owners of the Company JEL = 14,618 23,048 94,605 116,842 126,163

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019
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